
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Finance, Commercial Revenue and 
Contracts Policy & Accountability 

Committee
Agenda

Wednesday 14 November 2018
7.00 pm

Committee Room 1 - Hammersmith Town Hall

MEMBERSHIP

Administration: Opposition
Councillor PJ Murphy (Chair)
Councillor Patricia Quigley
Councillor Fiona Smith
Councillor Guy Vincent

Councillor Donald Johnson

Co-optees
Tony Boys, Erik Hohenstein, Chris Littmoden, Judith Worthy

CONTACT OFFICER: Kayode Adewumi
Head of Governance and Scrutiny
Governance and Scrutiny
: 0208 753 2499
E-mail: kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk

Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees

Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building.

Date Issued: 6 November 2018

mailto:kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Finance, Commercial Revenue and Contracts 
Policy & Accountability Committee

14 November 2018

Item Pages

1.  MINUTES 4 - 9
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on the 5th of September 
2018. 

2.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent.

Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest.

Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.

4.  SECTION 106 AGREEMENTS - UPDATE 10 - 49
Since 2014 the Council has negotiated over £310 million worth of 
funding through developer contributions as part of new developments in 
the borough. This report sets out the role of section 106 agreements 
and the use of section 106 funds. It also provides an overview of those 
section 106 receipts, the current position regarding overall expenditure, 
and how decisions are made regarding expenditure.

5.  RUTHLESSLY FINANCIALLY EFFICIENT 50 - 67
The Council’s Vision sets out five council priorities, which includes being 
‘ruthlessly financially efficient’. In response to this essential priority, the 
Chief Executive and Strategic Director of Finance and Governance have 
issued a strategic approach to all directors and managers, sharing 
expectations and setting out the standards that must to be followed. The 
Committee is asked to review this approach and provide feedback.

6.  HR, PAYROLL AND FINANCE SERVICE TRANSITION PROGRAMME 68 - 78
In September 2017, Cabinet agreed to move the Council’s HR, Payroll 
and Finance services, currently provided by BT, to a public-to-public 



partnership led by Hampshire County Council using the SAP platform. 
This report summarises the progress made and the key activities 
scheduled between now and go live of the new system.  

7.  TEMPORARY STAFFING AND ESTABLISHMENT REPORT 79 - 82
This paper sets out the current temporary resourcing arrangements 
across the council. The paper also sets out directorate action plans to 
use agency staffing appropriately, and to better plan for their workforce 
needs over the coming years as part of the council’s Ruthlessly 
Financially Efficient policy.

8.  COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 83
The Committee is asked to consider the items on the work programme 
and suggest any amendments or additional topics to be included in the 
future.

9.  DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 
The following dates are proposed: 
 Monday 5th December 2018
 Tuesday 12th February 2019
 Wednesday 27th March 2019



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham
Finance, Commercial Revenue and 
Contracts Policy & Accountability 

Committee
Minutes

Wednesday 5 September 2018

PRESENT

Committee members: Councillors PJ Murphy (Chair), Fiona Smith and 
Donald Johnson

Co-opted members: Tony Boys, Erik Hohenstein, Chris Littmoden, Judith Worthy 

Other Councillors: Max Schmid, Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial 
Services

Officers: Kim Dero (Chief Executive)
Hitesh Jolapara (Strategic Director of Finance and Governance)
Emily Hill (Assistant Director, Corporate Finance)
Steve Miley (Director for Children’s Services)
David McNulty (Assistant Director – Operations, Growth & Place)
Kath Corbett (Assistant Director for Finance and Resources, Growth & Place)
Rhian Davies (Monitoring Officer)
Tony Burton (Head of Finance, Children’s Services)
Lisa Redfern (Strategic Director of Social Care and Public Services Reform)

1. MINUTES 

Members noted that they appreciated the new action tracker but asked that 
dates be added to it.

RESOLVED
The minutes of the meeting held on 4 July 2018 were approved and signed by 
the Chair.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Patricia Quigley and 
Guy Vincent.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

4. HOW TO IMPROVE SCRUTINY 

To begin, Erik Hohenstein (Co-optee) asked attendees to consider one 
change that would improve the PAC in the next year. A short discussion then 
took place around the following ideas: 

 More of a focus on the scrutinising the Cabinet – currently, scrutiny 
tended to land more on officers and their work rather than the 
Executive. 

 A more formal approach to Cabinet Member scrutiny – the Cabinet 
Member could be formally invited for specific items rather than simply 
attending for everything. 

 Better recording and tracking of actions. There needed to be a clearer 
mechanism to log actions rather than have them ‘hidden in the 
minutes’.

Kim Dero (Chief Executive) suggested there should be a clear separation 
between the scrutiny and accountability element of the meeting and the policy 
development element. The two required a different mindset from both 
members and officers - and she felt a clear delineation would make for a 
more production session. 

The Chair agreed but highlighted the important of the scrutiny and 
accountability element. It was a critical part of the process, ensuring the 
Council was making the right decisions and spending tax-payer money wisely 
and effectively. Holding officers and the executive to account didn’t mean 
having to be negative in tone, but the challenge needed to be robust. 

It was suggested that meetings could be split into two - scrutiny in part one 
and policy development in part two. Or they could be separate meetings that 
alternated - scrutiny one month and policy development the next. Officers 
noted that policy development could also be achieved through the formation 
of task and finish groups that took place outside the scheduled meetings of 
the Committee. 

Steve Miley (Director for Children's Services) felt the Council needed to do 
more ideas development – suggesting more think-pieces should be coming to 
PACs for recommendation to Cabinet. He also highlighted the problem of 
'shallow scrutiny' where reports often comprised a basic presentation on a 
service area that led to simple questions and answers about its function. 
There needed to be greater focus and depth. Members of the Committee 
agreed with this assessment. 

A member asked how items got on to the agenda – and what happened if a 
member of the Executive didn't want an item on an agenda. Councillor PJ 
Murphy (Chair) said ultimately decisions about the agenda rested with the 
Chair but he always tried to seek consensus. If a member of the public asked 
for an item to be put on the agenda it would be considered.

Councillor Donald Johnson, on the topic of how to involve more residents, 
suggested targeting experts in the borough and inviting them for items in their 
particular areas of interest. Kim Dero said there was a wide range of topics 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

with a lot of public interest – from voluntary sector funding to business rates to 
community safety. The best examples of resident involvement were open 
community discussions on areas of local interest. 

Members suggested that the work programme needed to be more closely 
aligned with the Councils aims and priorities. Reports also could be clearer 
about how they related to Council priorities – linking them back to the 
Council's business plan. Officers agreed this would be helpful to see where 
individual items fitted into the wider context. 

Reports needed more time to ensure they were effective. For example, 
reports should include trend data rather than just a snapshot of performance. 

All Committees should learn from the few that were already very effectively 
engaging residents. There was also a lot to be learned from the Resident-led 
Commissions. The Governance team could produce a forward plan for all 
PACs and cross-check all items to avoid duplication. Officers felt there could 
be more 'strategic coherence'. 

Councillor Donald Johnson also noted that the Council should look at the 
culture of scrutiny - how it felt for officers and new members. Erik added that 
there were lessons to learn from the German model of a supervisory board of 
experts - they provided robust challenge but brought huge experience and it 
was seen as a valuable experience rather than a negative, combative 
experience. 

Chris Littmoden asked if members could be involved in the writing of reports – 
they could work with officers on a briefing document then get feedback. 
Officers felt it would be useful for members to be more specific about what 
they wanted from certain reports. 

The Chair summarised the major takeaways from the session: 
 Everything should link back to the Council’s business plan 
 There should be clarity around whether an item was going to 

Committee for scrutiny or policy development 
 The Committee needed to be clearer about what it wanted from items 

and what the right form was for that item – an ideas document, briefing 
document, scrutiny report etc. 

 More consideration needed to be given to engaging residents

5. FIVE FINANCIAL CHALLENGES FACING THE COUNCIL OVER THE 
MEDIUM TO LONG-TERM 

Hitesh Jolapara (Strategic Director for Finance and Governance) and Emily 
Hill (Assistant Director, Corporate Finance) presented the report that outlined 
the following five key financial challenges that concerned officers over the 
longer term:

 Issue 1 - Balancing the budget and future finance strategy
 Issue 2 – Financial resilience
 Issue 3 – Schools Funding
 Issue 4 – Major projects

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

 Issue 5 – Lessons from Northamptonshire County Council (NCC)

Issue 1 - balancing budget and future finance strategy 

Hitesh Jolapara introduced the first issue – noting that there had been a 
significant budget gap every year since he joined the Council. The National 
Audit Office reported that there had been a real terms reduction in spending 
power (grant and local tax) of 28.5% from 2010/11 to 2018/19.

Some members of the Committee felt more focus should be given to what 
cost cutting means to frontline services.

Kim Dero felt the future finance strategy was an area where the Committee's 
co-optees could be used to better effect. She suggested a task force could be 
set up to look at this issue in more detail.

Chris Littmoden wanted the Committee to test the Council’s zero-based 
budgeting approach.

Councillor Max Schmid (Cabinet Member for Finance) highlighted alternative 
income streams and commercial opportunities as an area where the 
Committee could add real value.

Erik Hohenstein questioned whether the Committee was given enough time – 
and enough detail – to do meaningful budget scrutiny. The Chair suggested 
officers could do a formal briefing on the budget earlier in the cycle. Councillor 
Schmid noted, for context, that the timescales for the budget were extremely 
tight – information on the final allocation from Central Government was sent 
around Christmas day and budget reports had to be ready by mid-January for 
scrutiny and mid-February for Full Council.

The Chair suggested the following areas for the work-programme:
 Raising revenue
 Continuing to review service spend
 Review fees – including a more dynamic approach (e.g. flexible pricing 

for leisure facilities based on usage peaks)

Judith Worthy felt the Committee should understand reserves better – 
particularly the earmarking process and the practice of services holding on to 
reserves. She felt corporate finance should be more proactive – taking 
earmarked reserves back if projects were dormant for too long. She 
suggested a proper review of the earmarked projects.

Kim Dero suggested greater scrutiny of invest to save projects – did they yield 
the expected return etc.

Issue 2 - Financial resilience 

Judith Worthy felt the Committee should consider the Council’s contractual 
commitments – how deeply was the organisation bound to expensive 
contracts? Was this covered in the business continuity planning?

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Erik Hohenstein asked if the Council had done any modelling on the potential 
impacts of Brexit. Hitesh Jolapara said officers had done forecasts and 
scenario planning. Councillor Max Schmid noted that a risk assessment had 
been done after the vote including how business rates and council tax 
revenues would be affected. The Committee suggested testing the 
assumptions used in these exercises.

Judith Worthy said it would be prudent to carry out ‘bankruptcy scenario 
planning’ to give an idea of the danger point for the authority. Given the 
commitments the Council has, how much would revenues need to fall before 
there was significant risk of failure? From that we could understand the 
tipping points, what level of reserves would be required etc.

Issue 3 - Schools funding 

Members asked, given the overspend, if H&F was spending more than other 
boroughs in this area. Steve Miley (Director of Children’s Services) said two 
thirds of all London boroughs were overspending. Council expenditure 
exceeds the grant from Government. The numbers of SEND children has 
grown significantly but the grant hasn’t. We need a sustainable plan to 
address this going forward. There were issues of financial management here 
with lessons that could be applied across the Council. Members noted that 
this could be an area for a joint task force with the Children and Education 
Policy and Accountability Committee.

Issue 4 - Major projects 
 
Councillor Max Schmid felt it would be good to have a generic way of looking 
at these types of projects - then start bringing them to scrutiny one by one. 
Hitesh Jolapara added that this could include costings, risk considerations, 
the parameters of the project, the ‘lifetime cost’, how we procure and contract, 
how it changes our financial risk profile going forward, return on investment 
etc.

Erik Hohenstein noted that procurement was a key issue – the Committee 
returned to it repeatedly.

Issue 5 - Lessons from Northamptonshire 
 
Councillor Max Schmid noted that H&F’s situation was very different from 
Northamptonshire’s but there were still lessons to learn. Kim Dero agreed and 
said the redevelopment of the Town Hall was a key area – H&F was one of 
the last boroughs to do this so there was a lot of learning out there.

6. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 

The group suggested the following items to be considered for the 
Committee’s work programme:

 Commercialisation – including joint ventures, trading companies etc.

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

 IT – including major contracts and how a modern council can use IT to 
engage / interface with residents. IT would be a good area to 
encourage residents with expert knowledge to inform our strategy.

 Lessons learned on major issues from other Council’s. 
 General point – the Committee needed to get information from a wider 

range of sources than just members and officers. There was a vast 
range of expertise in the borough that could be tapped into.

 Longer term financial planning (10+ years) and investment strategies.
 Developing an operating model for the organisation.

The Chair thanked everyone for attending and participating in the discussion 
– and gave a special thanks to Erik Hohenstein for leading the session and 
Hitesh Jolapara for providing officer support.

7. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 

The following dates were noted. 
 5 December 2018
 12 February 2019
 27 March 2019

Meeting started: 7.00 pm
Meeting ended: 9.00 pm

Chair

Contact officer: David Abbott
Scrutiny Manager
Governance and Scrutiny
: 020 8753 2063
E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 9



1

 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

FINANCE, COMMERCIAL REVENUE AND 
CONTRACTSPOLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

COMMITTEE

14 NOVEMBER 2018

SECTION 106 AGREEMENTS – UPDATE REPORT

Report of Cabinet Member for the Economy and the Arts: Councillor Andrew 
Jones

Report Status: Open

Classification:  For review and comment.

Key Decision: No

Wards Affected: All

Accountable Directors: 
Jo Rowlands - Strategic Director, Growth and Place
Hitesh Jolapara - Strategic Director, Finance and Governance

Report Authors: 
Joanne Woodward: Chief Planning and 
Economic Development Officer

Contact Details:
Email: joanne.woodward@lbhf.gov.uk
Telephone 020 8753 4429

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 Since 2014 the Council has negotiated over £310 million worth of 
funding through developer contributions as part of new developments in 
the borough.   This includes financial as well as non-financial 
contributions received through s106 agreements, along with the 
Community Infrastructure Levy.

1.2 This report sets out the role of section 106 (s.106) agreements and the 
use of s.106 funds. It provides an overview of those s. 106 receipts 
agreed as financial contributions per agreement, and the current 
position regarding overall expenditure and commitments for such types 
of agreement.  It outlines how decisions are made regarding 
expenditure of s. 106 funds. 

1.3 Appendix 1 sets out s.106 agreements where funds are received and 
projects are underway.  It provides information on completed s. 106 
agreements and funds agreed, but not yet received as the trigger points 
for payments are not reached.    

Page 10

Agenda Item 4

mailto:joanne.woodward@lbhf.gov.uk


2

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Policy and Accountability Committee note the report.

3. BACKGROUND TO PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 

3.1 Planning obligations under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended), known as s.106 agreements, are a mechanism 
which make a development proposal acceptable in planning terms, that 
would not otherwise be acceptable. They are focused on site specific 
mitigation of the impact of development. 

3.2 S.106 agreements are often referred to as 'developer contributions' 
along with highway contributions and the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL).

3.3 The use of planning obligations is governed by the principle that 
planning permission may not be bought or sold. It is not acceptable for 
development to be permitted because of benefits or inducements 
offered by a developer. 

3.4 Similarly, planning obligations should never be used as a means of 
securing for the local community a share in the profits of development or 
as a means of securing a "betterment levy”.

3.5 Planning obligations are used to secure affordable housing, and to 
specify the type and timing of this housing; and to secure financial 
contributions to provide infrastructure or affordable housing. These are 
not the only uses for a s.106 obligation. A s. 106 obligation can:

 restrict the development or use of the land in any specified way
 require specified operations or activities to be carried out 
 require the land to be used in any specified way
 require a sum or sums to be paid to the authority on a specified date 

or dates or periodically.

3.6 The legal tests governing the use of s.106 agreements are set out in 
regulation 122 and 123 of the CIL Regulations 2010 as amended.  The 
tests are:

Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
to bring a development in line with the objectives of sustainable 
development as articulated through the relevant local, regional or 
national planning policies. Development plan policies are a crucial as 
they set out the matters essential for development to proceed.

Directly related to the development; obligations must so directly 
related to proposed developments that the development ought not to be 

Page 11



3

permitted without them.  For example, there should be a functional or 
geographical link between the development and the item being provided 
as part of the developer's contribution. This does not limit the use of the 
obligation to the ward where the development takes place.

Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development;
what is sought must be reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
proposed development. For example, developers may be expected to 
pay for or contribute to the cost of all, or that part of, additional 
infrastructure provision which would not have been necessary but for 
their development. This investment may provide wider benefit on the 
community but payments should be directly related in scale to the 
impact of the proposed development. Planning obligations should not be 
used to resolve existing deficiencies in infrastructure provision or to 
secure contributions to the achievement of wider planning objectives 
that are not necessary to allow planning permission to be given for a 
particular development.

4. USE OF PLANNING OBLIGATIONS

4.1 Prescribing the nature of the development to achieve planning 
objectives
Planning obligations can be used to secure the implementation of a 
planning policy to make acceptable a development proposal that would 
otherwise be unacceptable in planning terms. For example, where not 
possible through a planning condition, planning obligations can be used 
to secure the inclusion of an element of affordable housing in a 
residential or mixed-use development where there is a residential 
component.

The general presumption is that the affordable housing provided 
through planning obligations should be provided in-kind and on-site. 
However, there are circumstances where provision on another site or a 
financial contribution maybe appropriate.

If a proposed development would give rise to the need for additional or 
expanded community infrastructure, for example, a new school 
classroom, which is necessary in planning terms and not provided for in 
an application, contributions maybe sought towards this through a 
planning obligation.

4.2 Compensating for loss or damage caused by a development
Planning obligations may be used to offset through substitution, 
replacement or regeneration the loss of, or damage to, a feature or 
resource present or nearby. For example, a landscape feature of 
biodiversity value, open space or right of way. A reasonable obligation 
will seek to restore facilities to a quality that existed before the 
development.

Page 12



4

5 PAYMENTS

5.1 Payments can be made in the form of a lump sum or an endowment or 
as phased payments, related to defined dates, events and triggers.

5.2 Where contributions are secured through planning obligations towards 
the provision of facilities which are predominantly for the benefit of the 
users of the associated development, the developer may make 
provision for maintenance and physical upkeep (sometimes in 
perpetuity).

5.3 Generally where an asset is intended for wider public use, the costs of 
subsequent maintenance and other recurrent expenditure associated 
with the developer's contributions should normally be borne by the body 
or authority in which the asset is to be vested. 

5.4 Where contributions to the initial support (“pump priming”) of new 
facilities are necessary, these should reflect the time lag between the 
provision of the new facility and its inclusion in public sector funding 
streams. Pump priming maintenance payments should be time-limited 
and not be required in perpetuity.

5.5 For all maintenance payments, local authorities and developers should 
agree the type of payments to be made, for example regular payments, 
or commuted sums, all with a clear audit trail.

5.6 ‘Pooled Contributions’ intended to provide common types of 
infrastructure for the wider area can be sought. Where the combined 
impact of a number of developments creates the need for infrastructure, 
it may be reasonable for the associated developers' contributions to be 
pooled, to allow the infrastructure to be secured in an equitable way. 

5.7 In some cases, individual developments will have some impact but not 
sufficient to justify the need for a discrete piece of infrastructure. In 
these instances, local planning authorities may wish to consider whether 
it is appropriate to seek contributions to specific future provision. 

5.8 When an item of infrastructure is needed by the cumulative impact of a 
series of developments the later developers may be required to 
contribute the relevant proportion of the costs. This practice can still 
meet the requirements of the policy tests if the need for the 
infrastructure and the proportionate contributions to be sought is set out 
in advance. In the White City Opportunity Area to provide as much 
certainty as possible concerning the infrastructure needed to support 
development the Council prepared a Development Infrastructure 
Funding Study (DIF). The DIF identified the estimated costs of the 
infrastructure and the extent to which developers were expected to 
contribute.

Page 13



5

6. ENFORCEMENT

6.1 The obligation becomes a land charge. If the s. 106 is not complied 
with, it is enforceable against the person that entered into the obligation 
and any subsequent owner. The s.106 can be enforced by injunction. In 
case of a breach of the obligation the authority can take direct action 
and recover expenses. 

7. CHANGING PLANNING OBLIGATIONS

7.1 Planning obligations can be renegotiated at any point where the local 
planning authority and developer wish to do so. Where there is no 
agreement to voluntarily renegotiate, and the planning obligation is over 
5 years, an application may be made to the local planning authority to 
change the obligation where the original obligation “no longer serves a 
useful purpose” or would continue “to serve a useful purpose in a 
modified way”. 

8. HOW S.106 FUNDS ARE MONITORED 

8.1 The Council employs an Obligations Monitoring Officer to log and 
monitor all planning obligations. This post is funded by contributions 
made by developers when they enter into planning obligations.  

8.2 All legal agreements and obligations contained in them are entered onto 
a dedicated Council database which incorporates the trigger points for 
payments of obligations to ensure compliance.

8.3 All contributions held are also recorded in the Council’s corporate 
finance system and regular financial reconciliation ensures consistency 
across the two data sets. 

9. S.106 SPEND IN LBHF

9.1 Local planning authorities are required to use the funding in accordance 
with the terms of the individual planning obligation legal agreement. This 
will ensure new developments are acceptable; benefit local communities 
and support the provision of local infrastructure. 

9.2 In LBHF there are three broad categories of s. 106 contributions 
received:

 for a specific purpose defined and described in the s106 agreement
 for a general functional purpose defined and described in the s. 

106 agreement but with geographical constraints
 for a general purpose defined and described in the s. 106 agreement 

but with no borough geographical constraints.

9.3 Typical obligations agreed by the Council are summarised in Appendix     
2. 

Page 14



6

10. PROCESS FOR ALLOCATING S.106 FUNDS

10.1 The Council has agreed procedures for determining the allocation and 
spend of s106 contributions, depending on the purpose the funds 
received.   

10.2 In the case of contributions received for a specified purpose, such as an 
identified junction improvement, the Council service responsible for 
delivering the project seeks formal approval from the appropriate 
Cabinet Member for the proposed project, or Cabinet in line with the 
Council’s Financial Regulations.

10.3 For more generic contributions, council services are required to follow 
an agreed s. 106 Protocol.  This requires all proposed projects be 
supported by a business case, conform to the terms of the legal 
agreement, and demonstrate how the proposal delivers the Council’s 
Business Plan and its Local Plan priorities.  Bids are assessed and 
prioritised by a monthly s.106 and CIL Board of senior officers which 
makes recommendations on schemes suitable for funding to the 
Cabinet Members for the Economy and the Arts, and Finance and 
Commercial Services.  

10.4 Councillors can make representations to the relevant department and 
discuss the need for a particular project to be submitted for funding.

11. SECTION 106 FUNDING, EXPENDITURE AND COMMITMENTS 

11.1 There are currently 209 individual s.106 agreements in the programme, 
containing over 900 heads of terms. Funds have been received for 
around 160 of these agreements (incorporating approximately 700 
heads of terms) and projects are underway. The remaining agreements 
are signed and completed although funds not received as the trigger 
points for payments are not reached. Trigger points typically relate to 
the stages of development, such as commencement of development 
works on site or the first occupation of a residential unit. 

11.2 A summary of the receipts received, expenditure and commitments 
relating to each individual s.106 agreement is shown at Appendix 1.   
The table sets out the balances at April 2012 and the receipts and 
payments history from April 2012 to September 2018. In addition to the 
current available balances, the table also sets out expected future 
receipts and committed spend.

11.3 A summary table setting out the overall position on s.106 is shown 
overleaf:

Page 15



7

Balance 
at April 
2012

Cash 
received Spend

Available 
balances 

at 
September 

2018

Future 
receipts

Total 
Current 

and 
Future 
Funds

Approved Earmarked

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
(16,705) (93,648) 59,551 (50,802) (177,890) (228,692) 6,733 74,652

Commitments

11.4 The future receipts total of £228.7m includes the total value of all 
potential receipts – including obligations agreed but not yet received. 
These receipts are contingent on a number of factors, including the risk 
relating to implementation and completion of planning applications as 
approved.  For example, the landowner/developer may choose not to 
progress development or in the event a planning permission expires, a 
new application and s. 106 agreement may supersede an earlier 
agreement.  

  
12. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)

12.1 The Government viewed s.106 as providing only partial and variable 
response to capturing funding contributions for infrastructure. As such, 
provision for CIL is now in place in the Planning Act (2008).

12.2 CIL has not replaced s.106 agreements although the introduction of CIL 
resulted in a tightening up of the s.106 tests.  S.106 agreements, in 
terms of developer contributions, should be focused on addressing the 
specific mitigation required by a new development. CIL addresses the 
broader impacts of development. There should be no circumstances 
where a developer is paying CIL and s.106 for the same infrastructure in 
relation to the same development.

12.3 Developers may be asked to provide contributions for infrastructure in 
several ways. This may be by way of the CIL, s. 106 agreements and 
s.278 highway agreements. Developers have to comply with any 
conditions attached to their planning permission. Councils should 
ensure the combined impact of such requests does not threaten the 
viability and scale of development identified in the development plan.

12.4 CIL is intended to provide infrastructure to support the development of 
an area. When councils introduce the levy, s. 106 requirements should 
be scaled back to matters that are directly related to a specific site, and 
are not set out in a regulation 123 list. Where the regulation 123 list 
includes a generic type of infrastructure (such as ‘education’ or 
‘transport’), s. 106 contributions should not be sought on any specific 
projects in that category. Where a regulation 123 list includes project-
specific infrastructure, the charging authority should not seek any 
planning obligations in relation to that infrastructure.

Page 16



8

12.5 Some site-specific impact mitigation may still be necessary in order for a 
development to be granted planning permission. Some of these needs 
may be provided for through the levy but others may not, particularly if 
they are very local in their impact. There is still therefore a legitimate 
role for development specific planning obligations to enable a local 
planning authority to be confident that the specific consequences of a 
particular development can be mitigated.

12.6 Where the levy is in place for an area, charging authorities should work 
proactively with developers to ensure they are clear about the 
infrastructure needs and what developers will be expected to pay.  
Developers should not pay twice for the same item of infrastructure. It is 
expected that receipts received through s. 106 agreements will 
decrease over time as receipts from CIL increase. 

12.7 The Council’s CIL took effect on the 1 September 2015 and charging 
rates vary across the borough, ranging from £400 per sqm for new 
residential development in the south of the borough to nil rate for new 
residential development in parts of the growth areas.  The Council has 
collected £3.3m in borough CIL receipts (excluding Mayoral CIL). 
Further details of the Council’s CIL can be found at 
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/community-
infrastructure-levy-cil 

13 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

13.1 Finance officers work closely with the Obligations Monitoring Officer in 
ensuring the effective and accurate financial stewardship of all s. 106 
agreements funding and expenditure. This includes maintaining and 
reconciling balances, receipts and payments records as well as 
monitoring committed and approved expenditure plans and future funds 
and drawing down funding for eligible expenditure. Finance officers also 
validate funding requests for the s. 106 Officer Board and Cabinet 
Member/ Cabinet approval. 

13.2 The tables in Section 12 and Appendix 1, which set out the balances, 
spend, future funds and commitments relating to s.106 agreements, 
have been validated by Finance officers. 

13.3 The funds of £81.3m are required to fund previously agreed allocations 
of s.106 funding to Council revenue and capital expenditure plans to 
mitigate the impact of developments.

Page 17



APPENDIX 1

Section 106: Balances, spend, commitments and future funds (April 2012 to September 2018 and projected)

Planning Reference AKA S106 SITE
Opening 

balance April 
2012

Cash 
received Drawdowns

Available 
balances as 

at 30th 
September 

2018

Future 
receipts

Total 
Current 

and 
Future 
Funds

Approved 
Commitments

Earmarked 
Commitments

   £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

1988/00583/ful 119 26-100 Scrubs Lane (21) (1) 0 (21) 0 (21) 0 0

1990/01742/var 161 Quayside Lodge, Townmead Road (377) (317) 473 (220) 0 (220) 0 0

1995/00888/ful 310 Watson House (624) (8) 560 (72) 0 (72) 0 0

1997/02742/ful 358 Thaxton Road (1) (0) 0 (1) 0 (1) 0 0

1998/02511/FUL 403 Fulham Broadway (Pillar development) (276) (3) 230 (49) 0 (49) 0 0

1998/02387/ful 408 William Cory Wharf (1) (0) 0 (1) 0 (1) 0 0

1997/02510/ful 413
West 12 (Concord Centre), Shepherd's 
Bush (see also 503)

(363) (37) 287 (113) 0 (113) 0 0

2007/03311/res 417 Imperial Wharf (1,139) (468) 1,353 (254) 0 (254) 0 100

1999/02681/ful 424 Westfield (3) (0) 0 (3) 0 (3) 0 0

2000/00310/ful 438 Gibbs Green (20) (0) 12 (8) 0 (8) 0 0

2001/X0001/other 451 War memorial, Margravine Cemetery (27) (1) 0 (27) 0 (27) 0 0

1997/00582/ful 458 Chelsea Village (361) (5) 219 (146) 0 (146) 25 3

2000/03126/comb 459 BBC White City, 201 Wood Lane (88) (1) 89 (0) 0 (0) 0 0

 468 Empress State Building (283) (5) 104 (184) 0 (184) 5 36

2001/02040/out 478
Site at Wandsworth Bridge 
Rd/Townmead Rd junction 

(14) (0) 0 (14) 0 (14) 0 0

2001/01297/ful 481 Vencourt Hotel (3) (0) 3 0 0 0 0 0

2002/02035/VAR 503
West 12 Shopping Centre (see also 
413) (25) (1) 0 (25) 0 (25) 0 0

2001/02475/FUL 506 Britannia House, 1-11 Glenthorne Road (31) (1,935) 1,215 (751) 0 (751) 0 0

2003/00685/FUL 517 Burlington Danes Building (2) (0) 0 (2) 0 (2) 0 0

2003/01781/FUL 538
Corner Thaxton Rd and North End 
Road (cf with 422 - Kensington Village)

(15) (0) 11 (4) 0 (4) 0 0

2003/00930/FUL 539 Burlington Danes Building (11) (0) 0 (11) 0 (11) 0 0

P
age 18



2003/03418/FUL 543
Former Pumping Station, Great West 
Road (200) (3) 73 (130) 0 (130) 0 0

2003/03289/FUL 544 8-110 Westway, W12 (6) (0) 0 (6) 0 (6) 0 0

2003/01801/FUL 545 Hammersmith Broadway Bus Stn (35) (0) 35 (0) 0 (0) 0 0

2005/00701/FUL 580 28 North Pole Road (12) (0) 1 (10) 0 (10) 0 0

2003/02322/FUL 600 Townmead Estate (112) (3) 2 (113) 0 (113) 0 0

2006/02359/VAR 607 84-88 Fulham High Street (13) (0) 10 (3) 0 (3) 0 0

2006/03176/FUL 624
Hammersmith Embankment/Fulham 
Reach (12) (0) 0 (12) 0 (12) 0 0

2006/02524/FUL 626 168-186 Fulham Palace Rd (109) (1) 110 (0) 0 (0) 0 0

2006/00774/FUL 627
71-77 Parsons Green Lane, Harrow 
Road (1) (0) 0 (1) 0 (1) 0 0

2006/02023/FUL 628 Prestolite Factory, Larden Road, W3 (44) (1) 15 (29) 0 (29) 0 0

2007/02889/FUL 635 725-761A Harrow Road, NW10 5NY (252) (5) 196 (60) 0 (60) 0 0

2007/03336/FUL 637 26a Peterborough Road (5) (0) 0 (5) 0 (5) 0 0

2007/03097/FUL 642 167-181 Askew Road (10) (0) 0 (11) 0 (11) 0 0

2007/02413/VAR 646 Hammersmith Embankment (6) (0) 0 (6) 0 (6) 0 0

2008/01167/FUL 648 290-302 North End Road (Travelodge) (55) (1) 55 (0) 0 (0) 0 0

2007/03215/FUL 649 Normand Croft Community School (3) (0) 0 (3) 0 (3) 0 0

2008/03801/FUL 651 282-284 Munster Road (78) (1) 55 (24) 0 (24) 0 0

2008/00547/FUL 657 G Gate 0 (55) 34 (22) 0 (22) 0 0

2008/03291/FUL 664 1 Westwick Gardens (5) (17) 13 (10) 0 (10) 0 0

2009/01480/FUL 672
Kelvin House, 63-75 Glenthorne Road, 
W6 (101) (2) 103 (0) 0 (0) 0 0

2009/00583/FUL 674 St Andrews Church (6) (0) 0 (6) 0 (6) 0 0

2008/03034/FUL 681 Chelsea Harbour Avenue 0 (391) 5 (386) 0 (386) 0 0

2009/02708/FUL 682 The Pump House, 99 Rylston Road (6) (0) 0 (6) 0 (6) 0 0

2008/03590/FUL 684
Goldhawk Industrial Estate, 2A 
Brackenbury Road

0 (348) 13 (335) 0 (335) 0 0

2009/02635/FUL 687 58 Shepherd's Bush Green 0 (285) 140 (144) 0 (144) 0 0

2009/02794/FUL 688 7-15 Vanston Place (40) (118) 72 (87) 0 (87) 0 0

2010/02180/FUL 690
Olympia Exhibition Centre, 
Hammersmith Road

7 (139) 69 (63) 0 (63) 0 0

2010/02218/FUL 691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane (365) (1,245) 1,495 (115) 0 (115) 0 0

2010/01806/FUL 692 20 Dawes Road (1) (0) 1 (1) 0 (1) 0 0

2010/02489/FUL 693 Stowe Road Depot (301) (71) 371 (0) 0 (0) 0 0

P
age 19



2010/03311/FUL 694 49-68 Sulgrave Gardens (49) (21) 1 (69) 0 (69) 0 0

2010/00531/FUL 696 21 Effie Road 0 (28) 0 (27) 0 (27) 0 0

2010/01983/FUL 697 57-63 Star Road 0 (1) 0 (1) 0 (1) 0 0

2010/03497/FUL 698
Hammersmith Palais, 242 Shepherd's 
Bush Road  

0 (462) 455 (7) 0 (7) 0 0

2008/03195/FUL 700 233 - 245 Dawes Road 0 (21) 0 (21) 0 (21) 0 0

2008/01553/FUL 701 70 - 72 Hammersmith Bridge Road 0 (62) 24 (38) 0 (38) 0 0

2009/01541/FUL 703 295 North End Road 0 (41) 1 (41) 0 (41) 0 0

2010/01176/EFUL 704 York House, Avonmore Place 0 (25) 8 (17) 0 (17) 0 0

2010/03190/FUL 705 Atlantic House, 1 Rockley Road (78) (2) 21 (58) 0 (58) 0 0

2010/01498/FUL 706 120 Broughton Road, SW6 (61) (1) 33 (29) 0 (29) 0 0

2011/00107/FUL 707 Brigade House, 8 Parsons Green (8) (0) 8 (0) 0 (0) 0 0

2009/03217/FUL 709 Lyric Theatre, Hammersmith 0 (1) 0 (1) 0 (1) 0 0

2010/03733/FUL 710 248 Hammersmith Grove 0 (109) 19 (90) 0 (90) 0 0

2011/01744/FUL 712 Janet Adegoke Leisure Centre (20) (1,586) 1,596 (10) 0 (10) 0 0

2008/01866/FUL 713 Brook Studio, 50 Basuto Road (1) (0) 1 (0) 0 (0) 0 0

Non S106 Agreement 715 Quain Mansions
(5) (0) 0 (5) 0 (5) 0 0

2011/00407/COMB 716 Fulham Reach (9) (3,457) 3,377 (89) (2,760) (2,849) 0 399

2010/01792/FUL 717 R M C House 0 0 0 0 (1) (1) 0 0

2011/01239/FUL 718 405 King Street
0 (119) 117 (2) 0 (2) 0 0

2011/00604/FUL 720 112 Devonport Road, W12 8NU 0 (2) 0 (2) 0 (2) 0 0

2010/02481/FUL 721 51 Townmead Road 0 (9,033) 5,501 (3,532) (89) (3,621) 0 89

2011/01472/COMB 722 Chelsea Creek, Imperial Road 0 (11,615) 7,909 (3,707) (4,020) (7,727) 0 0

2011/01753/FUL 723
26 Sulivan Road and 92-116, Carnwath 
Road 

16 (3,262) 3,090 (156) (2,148) (2,303) 0 0

2011/01458/FUL 724 21 Banim Street 0 (1) 0 (1) 0 (1) 0 0

2010/02917/FUL 725 Ashlar Court, Ravenscourt Gardens 0 (158) 27 (131) 0 (131) 0 0

2011/02675/FUL 726 Apex Court, 1 Woodger Road 0 (29) 8 (20) 0 (20) 0 0

2011/02778/S106 728 132 Wandsworth Bridge Road 0 (5) 1 (5) 0 (5) 0 0

2010/01526/S106 729
28-36 Glenthorne Road, W6 0LS aka 
729 0 (125) 92 (34) 0 (34) 0 0

2011/03004/FUL 730
Farm Lane Trading Estate, 101 Farm 
Lane 0 (307) 86 (221) 0 (221) 0 0

2011/03122/FUL 732 Chelsea creek, Lots Road 0 (1,759) 1,759 (0) (4,362) (4,362) 0 0

P
age 20



2011/02000/FUL 733 Earls Court, Seagrave Road 0 (1,637) 10 (1,627) (1,254) (2,882) 0 0

2011/02930/FUL 735 Shepherd Bush Market 0 0 0 0 (6,407) (6,407) 0 0

2010/00696/FUL 737
342-358 UXBRIDGE ROAD  LONDON 
W12 7LL 

0 0 0 0 (1) (1) 0 0

2011/01644/FUL 738

Land Adjacent To 1 Anley Road And To 
The Rear Of 31 Shepherd's Bush Road 
London

0 (2) 0 (2) (2) (3) 0 0

2011/00225/FUL 739
Ravenscourt House, 3 Paddenswick 
Road, W6 0EL

0 (59) 21 (38) 0 (38) 0 0

2011/03974/FUL 740
Stewart's Garages, 72 Farm Lane, 
SW6 1QA

0 (491) 323 (168) 0 (168) 0 21

2011/03068/FUL 741 313 - 321 North End Road 0 (87) 87 (0) 0 (0) 0 0

2011/03257/FUL 743 84 - 90B Fulham High Street 0 (167) 0 (167) (12) (179) 91 0

2012/01358/FUL 744
Site Of The Former Favourite Public 
House, 27 St Ann's Road, W11 4ST

0 (162) 58 (103) 0 (103) 0 0

2012/01634/FUL 746
Sands End Centre, 59 - 61 Broughton 
Road 0 (2) 0 (2) 0 (2) 0 0

2012/01888/FUL 747 McCoy House, 1 Shorrolds Road 0 (18) 0 (18) 0 (18) 0 0

2012/02503/FUL 750 Palingswick House, 241 King Street 0 (11) 0 (11) 0 (11) 0 0

2012/02505/FUL 751 Hammersmith And Fulham Irish Centre 0 (5) 0 (5) (10) (15) 0 0

2011/03262/FUL 752
174 Hammersmith Road London  W6 
7JP 0 (249) 101 (148) (100) (248) 0 0

2011/04016/COMB 753
Woodlands 80 Wood Lane London 
W12 0TT 0 0 0 0 (4,114) (4,114) 0 0

2011/02610/FUL 755 6 - 12 Gorleston Street, W14 8XS 0 (84) 1 (83) (81) (164) 0 0

2011/03260/FUL 756
22 Bute Gardens And 11 - 17 (odd) 
Wolverton Gardens, W6 7HN

0 (268) 124 (144) (152) (296) 18 0

2011/02485/FUL 758

Site At Junction Of Western Avenue 
And
Old Oak Road London

0 0 0 0 (167) (167) 0 0

2012/01058/FUL 759 17 - 21 Wyfold Road London SW6 6SE 0 0 0 0 (40) (40) 0 0

2010/02383/FUL 760 40 Rylston Road London SW6 7HG 0 0 0 0 (2) (2) 0 0

2012/03814/EFUL 761 2 Bagleys Lane Garages 0 (15) 15 0 0 0 0 0

2012/02825/FUL 762 Land to rear of 44 - 74 Emlyn Road 0 (1) 0 (1) 0 (1) 0 0

2010/01961/FUL 763 351 - 353 New King's Road, SW6 4RJ 0 (10) 2 (8) 0 (8) 0 0

2012/01183/FUL 765 153 Hammersmith Road, W14 0QL 0 (181) 130 (51) 0 (51) 0 0

2012/02224/FUL 768 1 - 8 Felgate Mews, W6 0LY 0 (13) 10 (3) 0 (3) 0 0

2011/03093/FUL 769
Riverview House Beavor Lane London 
W6 9AR

0 0 0 0 (2) (2) 0 0

P
age 21



2013/01074/FUL 770
Westfield London Shopping, Centre 
Ariel Way 

0 (11) 1 (11) 0 (11) 0 0

2012/03952/FUL 771 1A Gayford Road, W12 9BY 0 (26) 15 (11) 0 (11) 0 0

2012/01985/FUL 772 Queens Wharf Queen Caroline Street 0 0 0 0 (1,522) (1,522) 0 0

2012/02667/FUL 773
Service Station On Du Cane Road, 
London, W12 0BL

0 (52) 50 (2) 0 (2) 0 0

2012/00766/FUL 775
Palace Wharf Rainville Road London 
W6 9HN

0 (3) 0 (3) (3) (6) 0 0

2012/03546/FUL 776
King's Mall Car Park, Glenthorne Road 
and 45 Beadon Road, W6

0 (3,507) 1,369 (2,138) (3,949) (6,087) 1,057 55

2012/03395/FUL 777
Land Bounded By Harbour Avenue And 
Lots Road London AKA Chelsea Island

0 (7,285) 7 (7,277) (6) (7,283) 0 0

2012/00038/FUL 778
Fulham Football Club Stevenage Road 
London SW6 6HH

0 0 0 0 (1,382) (1,382) 0 0

2013/00856/FUL 784 282 - 292 Goldhawk Road, W12 9PF 0 (391) 179 (211) 0 (211) 43 0

2013/00454/FUL 787 184 Shepherd's Bush Road, W6 7NL 0 (483) 477 (6) (6) (12) 0 0

2013/01619/FUL 792
Palco House 11 - 21 Beavor Lane 
London W6 9AR

0 (40) 34 (6) (8) (14) 0 7

2012/02860/FUL 793 Latymer House, 2 Ravenscourt Road 0 (1) 0 (1) 0 (1) 0 0

2012/03855/FUL 794
London House, 100 New King's Road, 
SW6 4LX

0 (558) 363 (195) 0 (195) 0 96

2011/02001/OUT 795
Earl's Court 2 Exhibition Centre, Lillie 
Bridge Rail Depot

0 (1,195) 510 (684) (19,178) (19,862) 2,419 1,100

2012/01906/FUL 797
73 - 77 Britannia Road London SW6 
2JR 0 (3) 0 (3) (3) (6) 0 0

2013/01276/FUL 798
Service Station On Du Cane Road, 
London, W12 0BL

0 (2,258) 3 (2,254) 0 (2,254) 0 0

2012/01924/FUL 799
Parsons Green Club, Broomhouse 
Lane, SW6 

0 (379) 208 (171) (12) (183) 0 0

2012/01410/EOUT 800
Hammersmith Hospital Du Cane Road 
London W12 0HS

0 0 0 0 (36) (36) 0 0

2013/03799/FUL 801
Riverside Studios and Queens Wharf, 
Crisp Road, W6

0 (1,385) 1,080 (306) (1,819) (2,124) 0 0

2013/01118/FUL 802 7 - 9 Wyfold Road, London, SW6 6SE 0 (17) 15 (2) 0 (2) 0 0

2012/04264/FUL 804 77 - 89 Glenthorne Road London 0 (267) 147 (119) (4) (123) 0 0

2013/03424/FUL 805 258 - 264 Goldhawk Road 0 (429) 421 (8) (14) (22) 0 0

2013/04552/FUL 807
College Hall, 220 - 238 Goldhawk 
Road, W12 9PL

0 (132) 126 (6) (2) (8) 0 0

P
age 22



2013/04805/VAR 808 Imperial Wharf 0 (452) 119 (334) 0 (334) 0 0

2013/02620/FUL 811 1 - 9 Lillie Road 0 0 0 0 (115) (115) 3 0

2012/03034/FUL 813 Land At 41 - 45 Lillie Road 0 (32) 25 (6) 0 (6) 0 0

2013/04980/FUL 815
Hammersmith Park, South Africa Road, 
W12 0 (3) 0 (3) (15) (18) 0 0

2013/02318/FUL 816
The Queens Club Palliser Road 
London W14 9EQ

0 0 0 0 (115) (115) 115 0

2013/04441/FUL 819
Hurlingham Club Ranelagh Gardens, 
SW6 3PR

0 (23) 23 (0) 0 (0) 0 0

2013/03091/FUL 820
Hammersmith Town Hall Extension 
King Street London W6 9JU

0 0 0 0 (5,270) (5,270) 0 0

2011/03655/EFUL 821 IBIS Hotel, 47 Lillie Rd 0 0 0 0 (451) (451) 0 0

2013/05175/FUL 822
Empress State Building Empress 
Approach London SW6 1TR

0 0 0 0 (2,372) (2,372) 0 0

2012/04243/FUL 823
Edison Court And Tesla Court, Warple 
Way, W3 7HJ

0 (125) 1 (123) 0 (123) 0 0

2013/04745/FUL 824
8A and 10 - 12 Bramber Road, W14 
9PB 0 (9) 8 (2) 0 (2) 0 0

2013/03806/FUL 825

G Gate Marshalling Yard  Olympia 
Exhibition Centre Hammersmith Road 
W14 8UX

0 0 0 0 (130) (130) 0 0

2013/02355/COMB 827
Former BBC Television Centre Wood 
Lane London W12

0 (2,285) 1,379 (907) (7,566) (8,473) 0 701

2013/00523/FUL 828 176 - 182 Goldhawk Road, W12 9NS 0 (168) 131 (37) (1) (38) 0 0

2013/02238/FUL 830 271-281 King Street W6 0 (671) 385 (285) (167) (452) 0 0

2014/00367/FUL 831 12 - 14 Letchford Gardens, NW10 6AN 0 (5) 0 (5) 0 (5) 0 0

2013/05115/OUT 832
Land North Of Westfield Shopping 
Centre, Ariel Way, London

0 (5,464) 2,944 (2,520) (14,170) (16,690) 0 0

2013/05115/OUT 832
Land North Of Westfield Shopping 
Centre, Ariel Way, London

0 0 0 0 (26) (26) 0 0

2014/02069/VAR 833
Godolphin and Latymer School, Iffley 
Road, W6 0PG

0 (10) 1 (9) 0 (9) 0 0

2013/04660/FUL 834
Sunberry Day Centre 147 Stevenage 
Road London SW6 6PB

0 (3) 0 (3) (53) (56) 0 0

2013/05156/FUL 835 14 Gorleston Street London W14 8XS 0 0 0 0 (82) (82) 0 0

2014/04104/PD56 837
Elysium Gate, 126 - 128 New King's 
Road, SW6 4LZ

0 (1) 0 (1) 0 (1) 0 0

2014/01945/FUL 838
Burlington Danes School Wood Lane 
London W12 0HR

0 (20) 0 (20) (20) (40) 0 0

P
age 23



2012/02454/OUT 840 Former Dairy Crest Site 0 0 0 0 (5,800) (5,800) 0 2,323

2013/02870/FUL 842

Hurlingham Retail Park, 362 
Wandsworth Bridge Road And  1 - 3 
Carnwath Rd SW6

0 0 0 0 (5,074) (5,074) 0 0

2015/00643/TTTDR 843 Thames Tidal Tunnel (TTT) 0 (4,782) 149 (4,632) 0 (4,632) 685 1,810

2014/04720/VAR 844
Former BBC Television Centre Wood 
Lane London W12

0 0 0 0 (15) (15) 0 0

2014/03775/FUL 845 Palace Wharf, Rainville Road aka 775 0 (5) 0 (5) 0 (5) 0 0

2011/01198/FUL 846
Rear Of 63 - 65 Gayford Road London 
W12 9BY

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2014/02186/FUL 849
1 - 70 Fitz-George Avenue And 1 - 59 
Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0SY

0 0 0 0 (2,785) (2,785) 0 0

2014/02531/COMB 851
Former BBC TV Centre Wood Lane 
W12 0 (1,202) 1 (1,201) 0 (1,201) 0 0

2014/01842/FUL 852 327 Lillie Road London SW6 7NR 0 0 0 0 (3) (3) 0 0

2014/06126/FUL 853 137 King Street London W6 9JG 0 0 0 0 (4) (4) 0 0

2015/00126/VAR 855
Bechtel House - 245 Hammersmith 
Road W6 8PW

0 (19) 0 (19) 0 (19) 0 0

2014/03250/FUL 860

Albert Wharf, Swedish Wharf And 
Comley's Wharf Wandsworth Bridge 
Road London SW6 2TY

0 0 0 0 (13,335) (13,335) 0 0

2014/02677/VAR 861
London House, 100 New King's Road, 
SW6 4LX

0 (161) 13 (148) 0 (148) 0 0

2014/04242/FUL 862
Bechtel House 245 Hammersmith Road 
London W6 8PW

0 (646) 394 (252) (662) (913) 0 0

2014/03920/FUL 863 6 Avonmore Road London W14 8RL 0 0 0 0 (116) (116) 0 0

2014/03969/FUL 864
Mackenzie Trench HouseLillie 
RoadLondonSW6 7PD

0 0 0 0 (20) (20) 0 0

2014/02528/DET 865 Bechtel House 0 (2) 0 (2) 0 (2) 0 0

2014/05994/FUL 866
Horatio House And Ophelia House, 77 
Fulham Palace Road, W6 8JA

0 (39) 0 (39) (3) (42) 0 0

2014/04726/OUT 867
M&S White City Site, 54 Wood Lane, 
London, W12 7RQ,

0 (5,640) 2,642 (2,998) (41,250) (44,248) 0 25

2015/04568/VAR 868 58 - 76 Willow Vale 0 (18) 3 (15) 0 (15) 0 0

2016/03944/VAR 871
Land North Of Westfield Shopping 
Centre, Ariel Way, London

0 (2,271) 36 (2,236) 0 (2,236) 0 0

P
age 24



2014/06127/FUL 877
Nomis Studios, 45 - 53 Sinclair Road, 
London, W14 0NS

0 (125) 19 (106) (811) (917) 0 0

2015/00266/FUL 883 Elisnore House 0 (8) 0 (8) 0 (8) 0 0

2015/05050/FUL 884
Stamford Bridge Grounds, Fulham 
Road, London, SW6 1HS 

0 (10) 9 (1) (15,103) (15,104) 2,272 0

2016/04293/FUL 885 113 Munster Road, London, SW6 6DH 0 0 0 0 (9) (9) 0 0

2016/00730/FUL 888
223 North End Road, London, W14 
9NP 0 0 0 0 (1) (1) 0 0

2016/01703/FUL 890 1A Grimston Road, London, SW6 3QP 0 (9) 8 (1) (1) (2) 0 0

2016/04602/FUL 892
Sunberry Day Centre - Land North of 
Westfield Shopping Centre

0 (1,031) 2 (1,030) 0 (1,030) 0 0

2015/02037/FUL 893
St Paul`s Girls School, Hammersmith, 
London, W6 7BS

0 0 0 0 (1,177) (1,177) 0 0

2015/01329/FUL 897
Woodlands 80 Wood Lane London 
W12 0TT 0 0 0 0 (473) (473) 0 0

2016/04200/FUL 898

214 to 218 Shepherd`s Bush Road, 220 
and 222 Shepherd`s Bush Road and 
226 Sheperd`s Bush Road)

0 0 0 0 (109) (109) 0 0

2017/00172/FUL 899
Thames Tower, Blacks Road, London, 
W6 9EL

0 0 0 0 (120) (120) 0 0

2016/03855/FUL 901 11-15 Lillie Road, london, SW6 1TX 0 0 0 0 (18) (18) 0 0

2013/00474/FUL 905 5-17 Michael Road, London SW6 2ER 0 0 0 0 (1,176) (1,176) 0 0

2016/04044/FUL 906
Land known as the Walkabout Inn 
including part of the Dorsett Hotel

0 0 0 0 (67) (67) 0 0

2017/01128/FUL 907
Land known as La Reserve Hotel, 422-
428 Fulham Road, London

0 0 0 0 (38) (38) 0 0

2016/04452/COMB 908
Land known as Gateway Site, White 
City Place, 201 Wood Lane, London

0 0 0 0 (4,419) (4,419) 0 0

2017/02717/FUL 909

Triangle Site - 5-17 Hammersmith 
Grove and 1-11 Britannia House; 3 and 
3A Hammersmith Grove, and 12-18 
Beadon Road, London W6

0 0 0 0 (302) (302) 0 0

2017/01771/FUL 914
853-857 Harrow Road, London NW10 
5NH 0 0 0 0 (9) (9) 0 0

2017/04609/FUL 915
Land known as 160-164 Hurlingham 
Road, London SW6 3NG

0 0 0 0 (65) (65) 0 0

 S278 H-S278 - Pre School / Ark Conway 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 N/A Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 25



 (blank)

NOT Site At Junction Of Western 
Avenue And
Old Oak Road London (233) (8) 240 (1) (512) (513) 0 0

 
296 (+ 629 
and 630) Westfield

(9,588) (2,467) 10,472 (1,584) 0 (1,584) 0 500

 634/708 NCP Site, Hammersmith Grove (944) (1,027) 1,885 (86) 0 (86) 0 0

 758/887
Site At Junction Of Western Avenue 
And, Old Oak Road, London 

0 (100) 9 (90) (183) (273) 0 0

 794/861
London House 100 New King's Road 
London SW6 4LX

0 0 0 0 (7) (7) 0 0

 856  - s278
ARK Conway Primary Academy 60 
Hemlock Road London W12 0QT

0 (202) 1 (200) (5) (205) 0 0

 None
H-S106-Capital and Revenue Section 
106 to allocate

0 (2,490) 206 (2,284) 0 (2,284) 0 0

 S106LUL001 Leamore Street (105) (3) 2 (106) 0 (106) 0 0

 S169 Caxton Road Improvements (79) (2) 3 (78) 0 (78) 0 0

 S278 201-207 Fulham Palace Road (56) (2,349) 880 (1,525) 0 (1,525) 0 0

 SOTHMISC01 Old Oak Brichwood (2) (0) 0 (2) 0 (2) 0 0

 SOTHMISC02 Bishops Park (2) (0) 0 (2) 0 (2) 0 0

 SOTHMISC03 Hammersmith Park (11) (0) 0 (11) 0 (11) 0 0

 SOTHMISC04 Marcus Garvey Park (4) (0) 0 (4) 0 (4) 0 0

 TSKC001 Thames Strategy (11) (180) 112 (78) 0 (78) 0 0

 N/A Other Commitments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 67,387

  TOTAL (16,705) (93,647) 59,550 (50,802) (177,890) (228,692) 6,733 74,652

NB:
The future receipts column includes the total value of all potential receipts – many of these receipts are contingent upon a number of factors, including the risk relating to implementation and completion of planning 
applications as approved.
The cash received column includes interest earned on Section 106 balances. The Drawdowns column includes an administration charge.

P
age 26



Year AKA S106 Site Planning Reference Type of S106 Obligation
Sum of 

Amount

£000s

2017-18 161 Quayside Lodge, Townmead Road 1990/01742/var

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 52

403 Fulham Broadway (Pillar development) 1998/02511/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 2

403 Fulham Broadway (Pillar development) 1998/02511/FUL

Social inclusion & social care, including projects arising the 

poverty and worklessness commission 33

417 Imperial Wharf 2007/03311/res

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 33

506 Britannia House, 1-11 Glenthorne Road 2001/02475/FUL Arts & culture projects 21

506 Britannia House, 1-11 Glenthorne Road 2001/02475/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 118

506 Britannia House, 1-11 Glenthorne Road 2001/02475/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 2

506 Britannia House, 1-11 Glenthorne Road 2001/02475/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 500

506 Britannia House, 1-11 Glenthorne Road 2001/02475/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 568

506 Britannia House, 1-11 Glenthorne Road 2001/02475/FUL

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 5

580 28 North Pole Road 2005/00701/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 1

635 725-761A Harrow Road, NW10 5NY 2007/02889/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 14

635 725-761A Harrow Road, NW10 5NY 2007/02889/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 117

657 G Gate 2008/00547/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 3

687 58 Shepherd's Bush Green 2009/02635/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 75

691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane 2010/02218/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 125

691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane 2010/02218/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 292

691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane 2010/02218/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 1

Appendix 1 - Supplement 1

P
age 27



691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane 2010/02218/FUL

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 158

693 Stowe Road Depot 2010/02489/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 1

698 Hammersmith Palais, 242 Shepherd's Bush Road  2010/03497/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 24

704 York House, Avonmore Place 2010/01176/EFUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 8

712 Janet Adegoke Leisure Centre 2011/01744/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 4

716 Fulham Reach 2011/00407/COMB

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 22

716 Fulham Reach 2011/00407/COMB

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 261

716 Fulham Reach 2011/00407/COMB

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 469

716 Fulham Reach 2011/00407/COMB

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 373

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 165

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 3

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Libraries and community centres – improved facilities to 

increase capacity and extend provision 300

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 138

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 2,000

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 635

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 500

722 Chelsea Creek, Imperial Road 2011/01472/COMB

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 412

722 Chelsea Creek, Imperial Road 2011/01472/COMB

Libraries and community centres – improved facilities to 

increase capacity and extend provision 300

722 Chelsea Creek, Imperial Road 2011/01472/COMB

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 27

722 Chelsea Creek, Imperial Road 2011/01472/COMB

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 2,510

722 Chelsea Creek, Imperial Road 2011/01472/COMB

Social inclusion & social care, including projects arising the 

poverty and worklessness commission 200

722 Chelsea Creek, Imperial Road 2011/01472/COMB

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 867

P
age 28



722 Chelsea Creek, Imperial Road 2011/01472/COMB

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 500

723 26 Sulivan Road and 92-116, Carnwath Road 2011/01753/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 270

723 26 Sulivan Road and 92-116, Carnwath Road 2011/01753/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 1,500

723 26 Sulivan Road and 92-116, Carnwath Road 2011/01753/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 83

729 28-36 Glenthorne Road, W6 0LS aka 729 2010/01526/S106

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 83

732 Chelsea creek, Lots Road 2011/03122/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 500

732 Chelsea creek, Lots Road 2011/03122/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 483

741 313 - 321 North End Road 2011/03068/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 4

744

Site Of The Former Favourite Public House, 27 St 

Ann's Road, W11 4ST 2012/01358/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 22

752 174 Hammersmith Road London  W6 7JP 2011/03262/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 33

755 6 - 12 Gorleston Street, W14 8XS 2011/02610/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 0

776

King's Mall Car Park, Glenthorne Road and 45 Beadon 

Road, W6 2012/03546/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 250

776

King's Mall Car Park, Glenthorne Road and 45 Beadon 

Road, W6 2012/03546/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 53

784 282 - 292 Goldhawk Road, W12 9PF 2013/00856/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 61

784 282 - 292 Goldhawk Road, W12 9PF 2013/00856/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 27

784 282 - 292 Goldhawk Road, W12 9PF 2013/00856/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 1

784 282 - 292 Goldhawk Road, W12 9PF 2013/00856/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 61

794 London House, 100 New King's Road, SW6 4LX 2012/03855/FUL Arts & culture projects 10

794 London House, 100 New King's Road, SW6 4LX 2012/03855/FUL

New affordable housing, improving the quality and capacity of 

existing housing to meet the needs of an increasing population 77

794 London House, 100 New King's Road, SW6 4LX 2012/03855/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 6

P
age 29



795

Earl's Court 2 Exhibition Centre, Lillie Bridge Rail 

Depot 2011/02001/OUT

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 18

795

Earl's Court 2 Exhibition Centre, Lillie Bridge Rail 

Depot 2011/02001/OUT

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 147

795

Earl's Court 2 Exhibition Centre, Lillie Bridge Rail 

Depot 2011/02001/OUT

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 40

799 Parsons Green Club, Broomhouse Lane, SW6 2012/01924/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 100

799 Parsons Green Club, Broomhouse Lane, SW6 2012/01924/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 3

799 Parsons Green Club, Broomhouse Lane, SW6 2012/01924/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 100

801 Riverside Studios and Queens Wharf, Crisp Road, W6 2013/03799/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 48

804 77 - 89 Glenthorne Road London 2012/04264/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 25

807 College Hall, 220 - 238 Goldhawk Road, W12 9PL 2013/04552/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 20

808 Imperial Wharf 2013/04805/VAR

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 3

824 8A and 10 - 12 Bramber Road, W14 9PB 2013/04745/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 3

827

Former BBC Television Centre Wood Lane London 

W12 2013/02355/COMB Arts & culture projects 21

827

Former BBC Television Centre Wood Lane London 

W12 2013/02355/COMB

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 250

827

Former BBC Television Centre Wood Lane London 

W12 2013/02355/COMB

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 16

827

Former BBC Television Centre Wood Lane London 

W12 2013/02355/COMB

Libraries and community centres – improved facilities to 

increase capacity and extend provision 46

827

Former BBC Television Centre Wood Lane London 

W12 2013/02355/COMB

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 23

827

Former BBC Television Centre Wood Lane London 

W12 2013/02355/COMB

Social inclusion & social care, including projects arising the 

poverty and worklessness commission 18

827

Former BBC Television Centre Wood Lane London 

W12 2013/02355/COMB

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 38

828 176 - 182 Goldhawk Road, W12 9NS 2013/00523/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 40

828 176 - 182 Goldhawk Road, W12 9NS 2013/00523/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 2

P
age 30



828 176 - 182 Goldhawk Road, W12 9NS 2013/00523/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 79

830 271-281 King Street W6 2013/02238/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 49

830 271-281 King Street W6 2013/02238/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 1

832

Land North Of Westfield Shopping Centre, Ariel Way, 

London 2013/05115/OUT

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 613

832

Land North Of Westfield Shopping Centre, Ariel Way, 

London 2013/05115/OUT

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 63

832

Land North Of Westfield Shopping Centre, Ariel Way, 

London 2013/05115/OUT

Libraries and community centres – improved facilities to 

increase capacity and extend provision 281

832

Land North Of Westfield Shopping Centre, Ariel Way, 

London 2013/05115/OUT

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 13

832

Land North Of Westfield Shopping Centre, Ariel Way, 

London 2013/05115/OUT

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 500

832

Land North Of Westfield Shopping Centre, Ariel Way, 

London 2013/05115/OUT

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 1,465

861 London House, 100 New King's Road, SW6 4LX 2014/02677/VAR

New affordable housing, improving the quality and capacity of 

existing housing to meet the needs of an increasing population 13

862

Bechtel House 245 Hammersmith Road London W6 

8PW 2014/04242/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 10

867

M&S White City Site, 54 Wood Lane, London, W12 

7RQ, 2014/04726/OUT

Libraries and community centres – improved facilities to 

increase capacity and extend provision 33

867

M&S White City Site, 54 Wood Lane, London, W12 

7RQ, 2014/04726/OUT

New affordable housing, improving the quality and capacity of 

existing housing to meet the needs of an increasing population 1,466

867

M&S White City Site, 54 Wood Lane, London, W12 

7RQ, 2014/04726/OUT

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 5

868 58 - 76 Willow Vale 2015/04568/VAR Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 2

871

Land North Of Westfield Shopping Centre, Ariel Way, 

London 2016/03944/VAR

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 32

877

Nomis Studios, 45 - 53 Sinclair Road, London, W14 

0NS 2014/06127/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 19

887 (blank) (blank)

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 9

890 1A Grimston Road, London, SW6 3QP 2016/01703/FUL 

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 8

P
age 31



296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 290

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 129

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 175

634/708 NCP Site, Hammersmith Grove

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 2

None H-S106-Capital and Revenue Section 106 to allocate Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 7

S278 H-S278 - Pre School / Ark Conway

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 508

TSKC001 Thames Strategy

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 19

(blank) (blank) (blank) Administration charges 289

(blank) (blank) (blank) Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 38

2016-17 161 Quayside Lodge, Townmead Road 1990/01742/var

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 85

296 (blank) (blank)

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 156

403 Fulham Broadway (Pillar development) 1998/02511/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 10

413

West 12 (Concord Centre), Shepherd's Bush (see also 

503) 1997/02510/ful

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 20

417 Imperial Wharf 2007/03311/res

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 90

417 Imperial Wharf 2007/03311/res

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 100

417 Imperial Wharf 2007/03311/res

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 21

417 Imperial Wharf 2007/03311/res

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 100

458 Chelsea Village 1997/00582/ful Arts & culture projects 5

458 Chelsea Village 1997/00582/ful

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 29

458 Chelsea Village 1997/00582/ful

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 9

P
age 32



468 Empress State Building 0

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 34

538

Corner Thaxton Rd and North End Road (cf with 422 - 

Kensington Village) 2003/01781/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 9

635 725-761A Harrow Road, NW10 5NY 2007/02889/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 17

648 290-302 North End Road (Travelodge) 2008/01167/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 13

672 Kelvin House, 63-75 Glenthorne Road, W6 2009/01480/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 101

684 Goldhawk Industrial Estate, 2A Brackenbury Road 2008/03590/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 10

691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane 2010/02218/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 76

691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane 2010/02218/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 200

691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane 2010/02218/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 20

693 Stowe Road Depot 2010/02489/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 299

698 Hammersmith Palais, 242 Shepherd's Bush Road  2010/03497/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 7

712 Janet Adegoke Leisure Centre 2011/01744/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 388

716 Fulham Reach 2011/00407/COMB Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 103

716 Fulham Reach 2011/00407/COMB

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 4

716 Fulham Reach 2011/00407/COMB

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 671

716 Fulham Reach 2011/00407/COMB

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 51

718

405 King Street

2011/01239/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 0

718

405 King Street

2011/01239/FUL

Social inclusion & social care, including projects arising the 

poverty and worklessness commission 45

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 337

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 40

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 34

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

New affordable housing, improving the quality and capacity of 

existing housing to meet the needs of an increasing population 58

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 131

722 Chelsea Creek, Imperial Road 2011/01472/COMB Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 794

722 Chelsea Creek, Imperial Road 2011/01472/COMB

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 386

P
age 33



723 26 Sulivan Road and 92-116, Carnwath Road 2011/01753/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 352

723 26 Sulivan Road and 92-116, Carnwath Road 2011/01753/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 200

723 26 Sulivan Road and 92-116, Carnwath Road 2011/01753/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 100

725 Ashlar Court, Ravenscourt Gardens 2010/02917/FUL

Social inclusion & social care, including projects arising the 

poverty and worklessness commission 25

729 28-36 Glenthorne Road, W6 0LS aka 729 2010/01526/S106 Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 7

729 28-36 Glenthorne Road, W6 0LS aka 729 2010/01526/S106

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 2

730 Farm Lane Trading Estate, 101 Farm Lane 2011/03004/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 50

732 Chelsea creek, Lots Road 2011/03122/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 150

732 Chelsea creek, Lots Road 2011/03122/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 71

739 Ravenscourt House, 3 Paddenswick Road, W6 0EL 2011/00225/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 2

740 Stewart's Garages, 72 Farm Lane, SW6 1QA 2011/03974/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 94

740 Stewart's Garages, 72 Farm Lane, SW6 1QA 2011/03974/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 66

752 174 Hammersmith Road London  W6 7JP 2011/03262/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 10

756

22 Bute Gardens And 11 - 17 (odd) Wolverton 

Gardens, W6 7HN 2011/03260/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 2

756

22 Bute Gardens And 11 - 17 (odd) Wolverton 

Gardens, W6 7HN 2011/03260/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 100

756

22 Bute Gardens And 11 - 17 (odd) Wolverton 

Gardens, W6 7HN 2011/03260/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 20

765 153 Hammersmith Road, W14 0QL 2012/01183/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 79

765 153 Hammersmith Road, W14 0QL 2012/01183/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 49

773 Service Station On Du Cane Road, London, W12 0BL 2012/02667/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 14

776

King's Mall Car Park, Glenthorne Road and 45 Beadon 

Road, W6 2012/03546/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 98

776

King's Mall Car Park, Glenthorne Road and 45 Beadon 

Road, W6 2012/03546/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 195

776

King's Mall Car Park, Glenthorne Road and 45 Beadon 

Road, W6 2012/03546/FUL

New affordable housing, improving the quality and capacity of 

existing housing to meet the needs of an increasing population 3

784 282 - 292 Goldhawk Road, W12 9PF 2013/00856/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 8

784 282 - 292 Goldhawk Road, W12 9PF 2013/00856/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 3

784 282 - 292 Goldhawk Road, W12 9PF 2013/00856/FUL

Social inclusion & social care, including projects arising the 

poverty and worklessness commission 15

787 184 Shepherd's Bush Road, W6 7NL 2013/00454/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 21

P
age 34



787 184 Shepherd's Bush Road, W6 7NL 2013/00454/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 151

792 Palco House 11 - 21 Beavor Lane London W6 9AR 2013/01619/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 33

794 London House, 100 New King's Road, SW6 4LX 2012/03855/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 44

794 London House, 100 New King's Road, SW6 4LX 2012/03855/FUL

New affordable housing, improving the quality and capacity of 

existing housing to meet the needs of an increasing population 201

795

Earl's Court 2 Exhibition Centre, Lillie Bridge Rail 

Depot 2011/02001/OUT

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 23

795

Earl's Court 2 Exhibition Centre, Lillie Bridge Rail 

Depot 2011/02001/OUT

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 40

801 Riverside Studios and Queens Wharf, Crisp Road, W6 2013/03799/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 258

801 Riverside Studios and Queens Wharf, Crisp Road, W6 2013/03799/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 240

801 Riverside Studios and Queens Wharf, Crisp Road, W6 2013/03799/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 200

804 77 - 89 Glenthorne Road London 2012/04264/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 21

804 77 - 89 Glenthorne Road London 2012/04264/FUL

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 50

805 258 - 264 Goldhawk Road 2013/03424/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 229

807 College Hall, 220 - 238 Goldhawk Road, W12 9PL 2013/04552/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 105

808 Imperial Wharf 2013/04805/VAR

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 114

819 Hurlingham Club Ranelagh Gardens, SW6 3PR 2013/04441/FUL

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 23

824 8A and 10 - 12 Bramber Road, W14 9PB 2013/04745/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 4

827

Former BBC Television Centre Wood Lane London 

W12 2013/02355/COMB Arts & culture projects 210

827

Former BBC Television Centre Wood Lane London 

W12 2013/02355/COMB

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 88

827

Former BBC Television Centre Wood Lane London 

W12 2013/02355/COMB

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 100

827

Former BBC Television Centre Wood Lane London 

W12 2013/02355/COMB

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 62

828 176 - 182 Goldhawk Road, W12 9NS 2013/00523/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 10

830 271-281 King Street W6 2013/02238/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 118

830 271-281 King Street W6 2013/02238/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 20

830 271-281 King Street W6 2013/02238/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 13

830 271-281 King Street W6 2013/02238/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 100

833 Godolphin and Latymer School, Iffley Road, W6 0PG 2014/02069/VAR

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 1

P
age 35



843 Thames Tidal Tunnel (TTT) 2015/00643/TTTDR

Social inclusion & social care, including projects arising the 

poverty and worklessness commission 7

843 Thames Tidal Tunnel (TTT) 2015/00643/TTTDR

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 100

862

Bechtel House 245 Hammersmith Road London W6 

8PW 2014/04242/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 30

862

Bechtel House 245 Hammersmith Road London W6 

8PW 2014/04242/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 352

867

M&S White City Site, 54 Wood Lane, London, W12 

7RQ, 2014/04726/OUT Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 855

867

M&S White City Site, 54 Wood Lane, London, W12 

7RQ, 2014/04726/OUT

New affordable housing, improving the quality and capacity of 

existing housing to meet the needs of an increasing population 269

868 58 - 76 Willow Vale 2015/04568/VAR Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 1

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield Arts & culture projects 250

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 301

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 250

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 136

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 3

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 173

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Social inclusion & social care, including projects arising the 

poverty and worklessness commission 44

634/708 NCP Site, Hammersmith Grove

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 1

None H-S106-Capital and Revenue Section 106 to allocate Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 10

S169 Caxton Road Improvements Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 2

S278 H-S278 - Pre School / Ark Conway Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 144

TSKC001 Thames Strategy

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 51

(blank) (blank) (blank) Administration charges 133

2015-16 161 Quayside Lodge, Townmead Road 1990/01742/var

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 89

310 Watson House 1995/00888/ful Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 200

310 Watson House 1995/00888/ful

New affordable housing, improving the quality and capacity of 

existing housing to meet the needs of an increasing population 69

413

West 12 (Concord Centre), Shepherd's Bush (see also 

503) 1997/02510/ful

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 240

P
age 36



417 Imperial Wharf 2007/03311/res

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 464

458 Chelsea Village 1997/00582/ful

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 3

459 BBC White City, 201 Wood Lane 2000/03126/comb

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 88

538

Corner Thaxton Rd and North End Road (cf with 422 - 

Kensington Village) 2003/01781/FUL Arts & culture projects 2

628 Prestolite Factory, Larden Road, W3 2006/02023/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 14

635 725-761A Harrow Road, NW10 5NY 2007/02889/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 12

687 58 Shepherd's Bush Green 2009/02635/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 50

691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane 2010/02218/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 150

691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane 2010/02218/FUL

Social inclusion & social care, including projects arising the 

poverty and worklessness commission 20

691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane 2010/02218/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 250

698 Hammersmith Palais, 242 Shepherd's Bush Road  2010/03497/FUL Arts & culture projects 2

698 Hammersmith Palais, 242 Shepherd's Bush Road  2010/03497/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 10

698 Hammersmith Palais, 242 Shepherd's Bush Road  2010/03497/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 103

707 Brigade House, 8 Parsons Green 2011/00107/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 8

710 248 Hammersmith Grove 2010/03733/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 18

712 Janet Adegoke Leisure Centre 2011/01744/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 599

716 Fulham Reach 2011/00407/COMB Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 14

718

405 King Street

2011/01239/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 16

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 498

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 157

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 1

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 2

722 Chelsea Creek, Imperial Road 2011/01472/COMB Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 407

P
age 37



722 Chelsea Creek, Imperial Road 2011/01472/COMB

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 200

723 26 Sulivan Road and 92-116, Carnwath Road 2011/01753/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 17

723 26 Sulivan Road and 92-116, Carnwath Road 2011/01753/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 200

723 26 Sulivan Road and 92-116, Carnwath Road 2011/01753/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 21

730 Farm Lane Trading Estate, 101 Farm Lane 2011/03004/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 33

732 Chelsea creek, Lots Road 2011/03122/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 240

732 Chelsea creek, Lots Road 2011/03122/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 136

733 Earls Court, Seagrave Road 2011/02000/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 2

740 Stewart's Garages, 72 Farm Lane, SW6 1QA 2011/03974/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 83

740 Stewart's Garages, 72 Farm Lane, SW6 1QA 2011/03974/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 33

741 313 - 321 North End Road 2011/03068/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 50

744

Site Of The Former Favourite Public House, 27 St 

Ann's Road, W11 4ST 2012/01358/FUL

Social inclusion & social care, including projects arising the 

poverty and worklessness commission 30

752 174 Hammersmith Road London  W6 7JP 2011/03262/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 50

761 2 Bagleys Lane Garages 2012/03814/EFUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 15

763 351 - 353 New King's Road, SW6 4RJ 2010/01961/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 2

768 1 - 8 Felgate Mews, W6 0LY 2012/02224/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 10

773 Service Station On Du Cane Road, London, W12 0BL 2012/02667/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 15

776

King's Mall Car Park, Glenthorne Road and 45 Beadon 

Road, W6 2012/03546/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 187

776

King's Mall Car Park, Glenthorne Road and 45 Beadon 

Road, W6 2012/03546/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 14

784 282 - 292 Goldhawk Road, W12 9PF 2013/00856/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 2

787 184 Shepherd's Bush Road, W6 7NL 2013/00454/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 9

794 London House, 100 New King's Road, SW6 4LX 2012/03855/FUL

New affordable housing, improving the quality and capacity of 

existing housing to meet the needs of an increasing population 23

795

Earl's Court 2 Exhibition Centre, Lillie Bridge Rail 

Depot 2011/02001/OUT

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 159

795

Earl's Court 2 Exhibition Centre, Lillie Bridge Rail 

Depot 2011/02001/OUT

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 40

P
age 38



799 Parsons Green Club, Broomhouse Lane, SW6 2012/01924/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 3

801 Riverside Studios and Queens Wharf, Crisp Road, W6 2013/03799/FUL

New affordable housing, improving the quality and capacity of 

existing housing to meet the needs of an increasing population 326

802 7 - 9 Wyfold Road, London, SW6 6SE 2013/01118/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 15

804 77 - 89 Glenthorne Road London 2012/04264/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 50

805 258 - 264 Goldhawk Road 2013/03424/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 60

805 258 - 264 Goldhawk Road 2013/03424/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 100

805 258 - 264 Goldhawk Road 2013/03424/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 25

807 College Hall, 220 - 238 Goldhawk Road, W12 9PL 2013/04552/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 1

813 Land At 41 - 45 Lillie Road 2012/03034/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 25

827

Former BBC Television Centre Wood Lane London 

W12 2013/02355/COMB Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 345

827

Former BBC Television Centre Wood Lane London 

W12 2013/02355/COMB

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 150

830 271-281 King Street W6 2013/02238/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 76

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 342

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 93

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 137

634/708 NCP Site, Hammersmith Grove

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 1

S278 H-S278 - Pre School / Ark Conway Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 0

TSKC001 Thames Strategy

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 5

(blank) (blank) (blank) Administration charges 67

(blank) (blank) (blank) Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 211

(blank) (blank) (blank)

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 22

2014-15 161 Quayside Lodge, Townmead Road 1990/01742/var

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 112

310 Watson House 1995/00888/ful

New affordable housing, improving the quality and capacity of 

existing housing to meet the needs of an increasing population 203

P
age 39



310 Watson House 1995/00888/ful

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 58

417 Imperial Wharf 2007/03311/res

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 51

458 Chelsea Village 1997/00582/ful

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 3

468 Empress State Building

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 5

468 Empress State Building

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 1

468 Empress State Building

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 19

481 Vencourt Hotel 2001/01297/ful

New affordable housing, improving the quality and capacity of 

existing housing to meet the needs of an increasing population 3

538

Corner Thaxton Rd and North End Road (cf with 422 - 

Kensington Village) 2003/01781/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 1

543 Former Pumping Station, Great West Road 2003/03418/FUL Arts & culture projects 10

545 Hammersmith Broadway Bus Stn 2003/01801/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 35

626 168-186 Fulham Palace Rd 2006/02524/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 108

634 (blank) (blank)

Libraries and community centres – improved facilities to 

increase capacity and extend provision 885

635 725-761A Harrow Road, NW10 5NY 2007/02889/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 4

648 290-302 North End Road (Travelodge) 2008/01167/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 33

651 282-284 Munster Road 2008/03801/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 4

657 G Gate 2008/00547/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 30

687 58 Shepherd's Bush Green 2009/02635/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 12

688 7-15 Vanston Place 2009/02794/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 1

691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane 2010/02218/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 0

691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane 2010/02218/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 150

691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane 2010/02218/FUL

Social inclusion & social care, including projects arising the 

poverty and worklessness commission 20

693 Stowe Road Depot 2010/02489/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 20

P
age 40



698 Hammersmith Palais, 242 Shepherd's Bush Road  2010/03497/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 14

698 Hammersmith Palais, 242 Shepherd's Bush Road  2010/03497/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 52

705 Atlantic House, 1 Rockley Road 2010/03190/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 20

706 120 Broughton Road, SW6 2010/01498/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 10

712 Janet Adegoke Leisure Centre 2011/01744/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 44

713 Brook Studio, 50 Basuto Road 2008/01866/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 1

716 Fulham Reach 2011/00407/COMB Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 131

718

405 King Street

2011/01239/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 52

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 182

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 40

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 1

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 68

722 Chelsea Creek, Imperial Road 2011/01472/COMB Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 1,019

722 Chelsea Creek, Imperial Road 2011/01472/COMB

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 78

723 26 Sulivan Road and 92-116, Carnwath Road 2011/01753/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 172

726 Apex Court, 1 Woodger Road 2011/02675/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 8

732 Chelsea creek, Lots Road 2011/03122/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 139

739 Ravenscourt House, 3 Paddenswick Road, W6 0EL 2011/00225/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 3

740 Stewart's Garages, 72 Farm Lane, SW6 1QA 2011/03974/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 11

740 Stewart's Garages, 72 Farm Lane, SW6 1QA 2011/03974/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 33

741 313 - 321 North End Road 2011/03068/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 33

744

Site Of The Former Favourite Public House, 27 St 

Ann's Road, W11 4ST 2012/01358/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 5

761 2 Bagleys Lane Garages 2012/03814/EFUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 0

771 1A Gayford Road, W12 9BY 2012/03952/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 15

773 Service Station On Du Cane Road, London, W12 0BL 2012/02667/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 20

776

King's Mall Car Park, Glenthorne Road and 45 Beadon 

Road, W6 2012/03546/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 9

P
age 41



776

King's Mall Car Park, Glenthorne Road and 45 Beadon 

Road, W6 2012/03546/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 150

776

King's Mall Car Park, Glenthorne Road and 45 Beadon 

Road, W6 2012/03546/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 11

776

King's Mall Car Park, Glenthorne Road and 45 Beadon 

Road, W6 2012/03546/FUL

Libraries and community centres – improved facilities to 

increase capacity and extend provision 326

787 184 Shepherd's Bush Road, W6 7NL 2013/00454/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 82

792 Palco House 11 - 21 Beavor Lane London W6 9AR 2013/01619/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 0

795

Earl's Court 2 Exhibition Centre, Lillie Bridge Rail 

Depot 2011/02001/OUT

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 35

805 258 - 264 Goldhawk Road 2013/03424/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 2

805 258 - 264 Goldhawk Road 2013/03424/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 4

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 34

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 304

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 164

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 62

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 325

S278 H-S278 - Pre School / Ark Conway

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 148

TSKC001 Thames Strategy

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 17

(blank) (blank) (blank) Administration charges 61

2013-14 151 (blank) (blank)

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 6

161 Quayside Lodge, Townmead Road 1990/01742/var

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 69

310 Watson House 1995/00888/ful

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 10

403 Fulham Broadway (Pillar development) 1998/02511/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 8

403 Fulham Broadway (Pillar development) 1998/02511/FUL

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 6

417 Imperial Wharf 2007/03311/res Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 50

P
age 42



417 Imperial Wharf 2007/03311/res

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 2

438 Gibbs Green 2000/00310/ful

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 12

458 Chelsea Village 1997/00582/ful

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 8

458 Chelsea Village 1997/00582/ful

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 3

458 Chelsea Village 1997/00582/ful

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 6

459 BBC White City, 201 Wood Lane 2000/03126/comb

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 57

468 Empress State Building

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 0

468 Empress State Building

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 22

543 Former Pumping Station, Great West Road 2003/03418/FUL Arts & culture projects 30

548

231 - 253 Wood Lane & Quadrangle, London W12 

0HL 2005/00436/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 7

634 NCP Hammersmith Grove 2007/02005/FUL

Libraries and community centres – improved facilities to 

increase capacity and extend provision 752

634 2007/02005/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 193

635 725-761A Harrow Road, NW10 5NY 2007/02889/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 15

635 725-761A Harrow Road, NW10 5NY 2007/02889/FUL

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 15

642 167-181 Askew Road 2007/03097/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 6

648 290-302 North End Road (Travelodge) 2008/01167/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 3

651 282-284 Munster Road 2008/03801/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 49

664 1 Westwick Gardens 2008/03291/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 12

666 (blank) (blank)

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 99

688 7-15 Vanston Place 2009/02794/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 35

688 7-15 Vanston Place 2009/02794/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 5

690 Olympia Exhibition Centre, Hammersmith Road 2010/02180/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 62

691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane 2010/02218/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 5

P
age 43



691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane 2010/02218/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 12

692 20 Dawes Road 2010/01806/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 1

693 Stowe Road Depot 2010/02489/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 29

698 Hammersmith Palais, 242 Shepherd's Bush Road  2010/03497/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 100

701 70 - 72 Hammersmith Bridge Road 2008/01553/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 19

706 120 Broughton Road, SW6 2010/01498/FUL

Social inclusion & social care, including projects arising the 

poverty and worklessness commission 22

712 Janet Adegoke Leisure Centre 2011/01744/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 522

716 Fulham Reach 2011/00407/COMB Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 234

716 Fulham Reach 2011/00407/COMB

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 571

718

405 King Street

2011/01239/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 2

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 39

722 Chelsea Creek, Imperial Road 2011/01472/COMB Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 120

723 26 Sulivan Road and 92-116, Carnwath Road 2011/01753/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 13

723 26 Sulivan Road and 92-116, Carnwath Road 2011/01753/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 114

728 132 Wandsworth Bridge Road 2011/02778/S106 Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 0

776

King's Mall Car Park, Glenthorne Road and 45 Beadon 

Road, W6 2012/03546/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 54

776

King's Mall Car Park, Glenthorne Road and 45 Beadon 

Road, W6 2012/03546/FUL

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 16

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 395

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 330

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Libraries and community centres – improved facilities to 

increase capacity and extend provision 33

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 300

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 9

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 484

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 6

P
age 44



S278 H-S278 - Pre School / Ark Conway

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 67

TSKC001 Thames Strategy

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 14

(blank) (blank) (blank) Administration charges 70

2012-13 161 Quayside Lodge, Townmead Road 1990/01742/var

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 61

310 Watson House 1995/00888/ful

New affordable housing, improving the quality and capacity of 

existing housing to meet the needs of an increasing population 14

403 Fulham Broadway (Pillar development) 1998/02511/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 169

417 Imperial Wharf 2007/03311/res Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 423

417 Imperial Wharf 2007/03311/res

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 5

422 1998/01018/ful

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 13

432 1998/02533/ful

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 17

440 2000/02257/ful

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 20

458 Chelsea Village 1997/00582/ful

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 125

458 Chelsea Village 1997/00582/ful

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 16

458 Chelsea Village 1997/00582/ful

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 10

468 Empress State Building

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 4

468 Empress State Building

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 14

543 Former Pumping Station, Great West Road 2003/03418/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 15

548 (blank) (blank) Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 9

607 84-88 Fulham High Street 2006/02359/VAR

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring such 

as air quality 10

626 168-186 Fulham Palace Rd 2006/02524/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 1

628 Prestolite Factory, Larden Road, W3 2006/02023/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 1

634 2007/02005/FUL

Libraries and community centres – improved facilities to 

increase capacity and extend provision 12

P
age 45



634 2007/02005/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 34

648 290-302 North End Road (Travelodge) 2008/01167/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 6

651 282-284 Munster Road 2008/03801/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 1

654 2008/03567/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 0

688 7-15 Vanston Place 2009/02794/FUL

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 30

690 Olympia Exhibition Centre, Hammersmith Road 2010/02180/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 7

691 Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane 2010/02218/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 0

693 Stowe Road Depot 2010/02489/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 19

698 Hammersmith Palais, 242 Shepherd's Bush Road  2010/03497/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 1

698 Hammersmith Palais, 242 Shepherd's Bush Road  2010/03497/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 140

701 70 - 72 Hammersmith Bridge Road 2008/01553/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 4

712 Janet Adegoke Leisure Centre 2011/01744/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 29

716 Fulham Reach 2011/00407/COMB

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 456

718

405 King Street

2011/01239/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 1

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 2

721 51 Townmead Road 2010/02481/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 119

722 Chelsea Creek, Imperial Road 2011/01472/COMB

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 34

723 26 Sulivan Road and 92-116, Carnwath Road 2011/01753/FUL Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 5

723 26 Sulivan Road and 92-116, Carnwath Road 2011/01753/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 31

732 Chelsea creek, Lots Road 2011/03122/FUL

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 10

732 Chelsea creek, Lots Road 2011/03122/FUL

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 15

P
age 46



739 Ravenscourt House, 3 Paddenswick Road, W6 0EL 2011/00225/FUL

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 15

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield Arts & culture projects 20

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 278

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 649

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 2,481

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 120

296 (+ 629 

and 630) Westfield

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 1,918

S278 H-S278 - Pre School / Ark Conway Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 3

TSKC001 Thames Strategy

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 5

(blank) (blank) (blank) Administration charges 96

Grand Total 59,550

P
age 47



Appendix 1 - Supplement 2

S106 Obligation types
Drawdown 

amount

£000s

Administration charges 717

Arts & culture projects 580

Capital/Infrastructure projects. Site various 9,778

Community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to 

address increased crime/fear of crime arising from new 

developments and population growth 7,414

Economic development projects, facilitating employment 

opportunities, skills and training projects, apprenticeships; 

supporting small businesses 3,529

Libraries and community centres – improved facilities to 

increase capacity and extend provision 2,968

New affordable housing, improving the quality and capacity of 

existing housing to meet the needs of an increasing population 2,725

Parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing 

capacity 6,251

Schools / education including additional/improved facilities, 

adult learning projects 10,439

Social inclusion & social care, including projects arising the 

poverty and worklessness commission 479

Transport, highways & parking improvements to increase 

capacity and/or mitigate the specific impacts of a development 

eg a new lighting, junction or access road, pedestrian 

crossings and other improvements 12,785

Waste disposal / environmental protection and monitoring 

such as air quality 1,886
Grand Total 59,550

Page 48



P
age 49



P
age 50



P
age 51



P
age 52



P
age 53



P
age 54



P
age 55



P
age 56



P
age 57



P
age 58



P
age 59



P
age 60



P
age 61



P
age 62



P
age 63



P
age 64



P
age 65



P
age 66



P
age 67



P
age 68



P
age 69



P
age 70



P
age 71



P
age 72



P
age 73



P
age 74



P
age 75



P
age 76



P
age 77



P
age 78



Appendix 2

Typical types of Section 106 obligations 

 new affordable housing, improving the quality and capacity of existing housing 
to meet the needs of an increasing population

 
 transport, highways & parking improvements to increase capacity and/or 

mitigate the specific impacts of a development eg a new lighting, junction or 
access road, pedestrian crossings and other improvements 

 parks & leisure including improving facilities, increasing capacity

 arts & culture projects;

 libraries and community centres – improved facilities to increase capacity and 
extend provision; 

 economic development projects, facilitating employment opportunities, skills 
and training projects, apprenticeships; supporting small businesses

 community safety initiatives, CCTV, enhanced policing to address increased 
crime/fear of crime arising from new developments and population growth;

 
 schools / education including additional/improved facilities, adult learning 

projects;

 social inclusion & social care, including projects arising the poverty and 
worklessness commission;

 waste disposal / environmental protection and  monitoring such as air quality, 

Page 79



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

FINANCE, COMMERCIAL REVENUE AND 
CONTRACTS POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

COMMITTEE

14 November 2018

RUTHLESSLY FINANCIALLY EFFICIENT

Report of Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial Services – 
Councillor Max Schmid

Open Report

Council Priority: 5 – Being ruthlessly financially efficient

Purpose of report: For the Committee to review the document, comment on 
implementation, and make suggestions for future iterations

Key Decision: No

Wards Affected: All

Accountable Director: Hitesh Jolapara - Strategic Director, Finance and 
Governance

Report Authors: 
Emily Hill, Assistant Director Corporate 
Finance

Contact Details:
Email emily.hill@lbhf.gov.uk
Telephone 020 8753 3145

1. Executive Summary

1.1 The Council’s Vision sets out five council priorities, which includes being 
‘ruthlessly financially efficient’ (RFE). In response to this essential priority, the 
Chief Executive and Strategic Director of Finance and Governance have issued 
a strategic approach to all directors and managers, sharing expectations and 
setting out the standards that must to be followed. 

1.2 The approach sets out a plan of action for senior management to ensure the 
Council works in a single-minded and sovereign way to:

 embed even tighter financial controls and disciplines
 squeeze more value from our assets and contracts
 maximise commercial and investment opportunities
 build financial acumen and leadership among budget holders 
 be entrepreneurial 
 ensure that every member of staff understands their role, 

responsibilities, and goal in making every penny count!
 work in a cross-cutting way, reimagining roles.

Page 80

Agenda Item 5

mailto:emily.hill@lbhf.gov.uk


1.3 All officers and Cabinet members are expected to adhere to the expectations 
and standards set out in this document which reflects the Council’s Financial 
Regulations. 

1.4 The document has been shared on the intranet and through internal 
communications. It has been discussed by the Strategic Leadership Team and 
has been cascaded through departmental management teams. In addition, a 
briefing session was held with the Council’s top team on 3 September. 

1.5 Whilst the document has been shared with officers, work on this is ongoing as 
the Council implements new requirements and makes changes to working 
practices. The Council’s approach to being Ruthlessly Financially Efficient will 
continue to develop in response to its experience of early implementation, 
feedback from staff and suggestions from the PAC. 

1.6 The PAC is asked both to comment on implementation and to make 
suggestions for future iterations. 

1.7 The full document is attached as Appendix 1. 

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the Policy and Accountability Committee consider the Ruthlessly 
Financially Efficient document, comment on implementation and make 
suggestions for future iterations and developments.

Page 81



Ruthlessly  
financially  
efficient

The STraTegic approach for all DirecTorS anD ManagerS

Page 82



Page 83



1

Ruthlessly financially 
efficient (RFE)

Our brief for directors and managers
Our H&F Vision sets out five council priorities, which includes being ‘ruthlessly 
financially efficient’. We can put this essential priority in to practice if senior 
management share an understanding of what’s expected, the standards to 
adhere to and how we will work together to achieve our ambition.

We have a fantastic record of cutting and freezing council tax and 
charges to residents, while spending more on vital services such as adult 
social care. We have developed more efficient practices, cut waste, and 
sought innovative ways to achieve savings. We want to maintain that 
record, ambition, and ethos under increasingly severe and ongoing 
government funding reductions. 

However, across the Council, we can still find examples of unplanned 
budget overspends, breaches of financial controls and silo-working on 
finance matters. This strategy, together with our Financial Regulations, 
puts a stop to this by tightening up even further all our financial systems, 
budgetary and HR controls. It’s the right thing to do if we are to achieve 
even more value for money and service effectiveness for our residents 
and customers and it starts with the mindset of budget-holders. 

So, our approach is a plan of action for senior management to ensure 
the Council works in a single-minded and sovereign way to:

	embed even tighter financial controls and disciplines

	squeeze more value from our assets and contracts

	maximise commercial and investment opportunities

	build financial acumen and leadership among budget holders 

	be entrepreneurial 

	ensure that every member of staff understands their role, 
responsibilities, and goal in making every penny count!

	work in a cross-cutting way, reimagining roles

That’s how we will all demonstrate that we are ruthlessly financially 
efficient in everything we do.

Kim Dero
Chief Executive 

Hitesh Jolapara
Strategic Director  
of Finance and Governance
(Section 151 Officer,  
Local Government Act 1972)

Page 84



2

Challenging ourselves and others
We want to demonstrate that finance is everyone’s business and that 
every penny counts. So, to improve our financial efficiency, we need to 
always confirm that spend fits our Council’s priorities; challenge how 
much needs to be spent and achieve results within agreed budgets.  We 
need to maximise all funding opportunities open to us and collaborative 
agencies and we need to renew a culture of working together to fund 
and achieve our shared priorities. 

So, expect 3 key areas of financial questions every time you want to 
spend our money:

Our three financial obsessions
1. Necessity - what would happen if the spend isn’t 

approved? 

2. Value for money - how much really needs to be 
spent and could this be a one-off cost?

3. Collaboration - who is responsible? Can partners 
and other organisations share the costs?

Financial leadership and accountability
Every Cabinet Member, Director and Manager needs to now 
demonstrate not just direct ownership of all spending within their 
assigned budgets but a consideration of organisational impact. 

Every penny counts, so expenditure in one service area impacts on 
spending ability in other areas. In order to be the best, we need 
improved whole systems financial management and efficiency. Budget 
holders need to ask: is the proposed expenditure business critical; how 
much does this cost the organisation, not just their budget, so we can 
increase consequential thinking and organisational accountability.  We’re 
introducing a new accountability framework so everyone knows what’s 
expected of them. 

Page 85



3

Our accountability framework

All Council staff have a responsibility and obligation to get the most from every penny 
of taxpayers’ money and all funding streams and that is why regulations and financial 
control need to be strengthened. 

Compliance with financial regulations

Clear and consistent lines of management 
accountability must be demonstrable and 
enforced. We need to embed a new ruthlessly 
financially efficient mindset which shows we have 
zero tolerance, right across the Council, for non-
compliance with financial regulations and controls. 

Financial regulations apply to every Member and 
officer of the Council and to anyone acting on its 
behalf. Failure to comply may constitute misconduct 
and lead to formal disciplinary action. Finance teams 
now ultimately report to the Strategic Director of 
Finance and Governance. RFE introduces a new 
approach to budget management whereby the 
Strategic Director of Finance and Governance and 
the Chief Executive can change budget management 
arrangements where there are difficulties or conflicts 
or when a new perspective is needed for income 
generation or efficiency – this is a very different 
approach to the one where some service areas have 
held on tight to their budgets over years and not 
much change has been achieved. What’s important 
here is that the organisation operates like a well-run 
business; slicker, more agile, and unapologetic when 
it comes to what’s best for the whole organisation 
rather than service budget holder. 

We will be trialling “subject matter expert” managers 
who will not have responsibility for budgets for a 
fixed period in order to focus on service redesign or 
addressing service failure, for example. In this way 
we can be more innovative and responsive to the 
business needs, freeing up people to concentrate 
on delivery. It’s an interesting proposal as it allows 
another member of staff to develop budget 
management skills or manage a bigger budget.

Director accountability

So, all Directors need to understand fully the 
consequences of poor financial control and 
management as well as the all-round benefits of 

building new income streams. All Directors will be 
appraised on financial efficiency and revenue raising 
for the Council as well as their sole service area, and 
financial competencies and budget management 
will continue to feature in the senior managers 
performance management framework.

 All budget overspends will be peer challenged 
and Directors will be expected to understand the 
cause and put in place workable mitigations. The 
cause of overspends and proposed mitigations 
that resolve or offset them will continue to be 
presented to the Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) 
and to Members monthly. The organisational 
impact work will make clear the consequences for 
the organisation if budgets remain exceeded.

 Directors need to work with their Cabinet 
Members to consider more keenly how 
commercial enterprise and management can 
benefit their service areas and budgets. A more 
robust approach to debt and credit management, 
as well as social value will also be embedded. 

 We are changing accountability for the financial 
leadership of significant capital schemes and use 
of external law firms with more regular reporting, 
more financial rigour and strategic governance – 
everyone will need to comply.

We expect our Directors and finance managers to 
act with integrity, due skill, care and diligence, whilst 
being open and cooperative with auditors and other 
regulators. We expect all our officers to pay due regard 
to the interests of residents and customers and treat 
them fairly. We also expect our officers to observe 
proper standards of local government conduct.

Single corporate financial 
management

All finance officers will report (through their 
managers where relevant) to the Strategic Director of 
Finance and Governance to improve financial controls 
and transparency.

Page 86



4

Scheme of delegation 
and expenditure 
authorisation 
We’re tightening up the processes for formally authorising Council 
expenditure, to ensure funding is in place and clearly understood, before 
any spending decisions are taken. Financial regulations and the scheme 
of delegation must be adhered to.  

 The rules below cover amendments to capital and revenue budgets 
approved by Council: 

• Up to £25,000 can be authorised by a Director’s Delegated 
Authority report and will now need to be counter-signed the Chief 
Executive or the Strategic Director of Finance and Governance

• Between £25,000 to £100,00 can be authorised by a Cabinet 
Member decision report

• Between £100,000 to £5,000,000 can be authorised by a Cabinet 
report

• Above £5,000,000 needs to be agreed at a Full Council meeting

• Any call on corporate or departmental reserves will need to 
be signed off first by the Strategic Director of Finance and 
Governance and the Chief Executive before progressing to Cabinet 
Members/Cabinet

• Loans cannot be made to any external organisation without 
agreement from Full Council.

 Rests with the accountable Cabinet Member and accountable 
Director.

 We have 5 key documents which should be read in conjunction with 
this RFE approach:

• Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)

• Capital Strategy

• Treasury Management Strategy

• Audit Plan

• The Council’s Constitution, which includes the financial regulations  

1. 

BuDget reSponSiBility

Key DoCumentS 

Page 87



5

Decision reports

 All decisions reports will only be progressed if they are fully funded 
before any spend is incurred. 

 All Cabinet Member Decisions, Cabinet, and Policy and Accountability 
Committee (PAC) reports must include full and transparent financial 
implications prepared by finance officers (with final sign off by 
Strategic Director of Finance and Governance).

 Leader’s Urgency reports will only be used in exceptional 
circumstances and these must be cleared in advance by the Chief 
Executive. The financial implications must be fully considered by the 
Strategic Director of Finance and Governance.

 Committee services will ensure that the correct review and sign off 
requirements have been followed before any papers are dispatched.

invoice approval

 Budget holders must check that services, goods and works have 
been delivered to a good standard before goods are ‘receipted’ and 
invoices approved.

 Officers checking and approving invoices must ensure invoices are 
in line with agreed contracts and should challenge suppliers and 
contractors where necessary before any payments are made. 

Staffing expenditure

 In light of current overspends, all recruitment is currently being agreed by 
the Chief Executive in conjunction with the newly established Resource 
Management Board (RMB). The RMB consists of the chief Executive, 
the Strategic Director of Finance and Governance and the Director of 
Corporate Services. The RMB’s role is to review all new permanent staff 
salary expenditure and all non-contractually committed expenditure. 

 The RMB also has responsibility for the development of the agency 
staff reduction plan. 

Audit

 Audit will continue to conduct a monthly sample of all invoices 
approved for payment to ensure proper checks and controls have 
been implemented.

Care packages 

 A new level of financial control measures is being introduced to provide 
assurance on the development, demand and supply of care packages. 
Particularly assurances confirming that all avenues were explored to 
reduce care package costs will be sought. These tighter controls will 
not affect or undermine the statutory responsibilities of Directors. 

our ACtion plAn

Page 88



6

Supplies and services

 A new regime of every penny counts and team scrutiny of 
running costs budgets will assist the RFE approach. So, all spend 
on conferences, external training, marketing, communications, 
publications, membership fees, catering, events, printing, supplies 
need to be more considered carefully. There is currently an embargo 
on much of the spending in these areas so Directors and Managers 
need to confirm permissible spend. 

 All budget holders will be required to hold a team meeting showing 
all staff in the team the full running costs expenditure to encourage 
challenge and fresh ideas about spend (no salary information, 
confidential or commercially sensitive information will be shared).

Charges to other organisations

 In order to adhere to the financial obsession of collaboration and 
challenging who pays –  finance teams will review all recharges to 
outside organisations in the new financial year.  

Page 89



7

Capital expenditure
We are reforming the way capital projects are managed to achieve 
greater efficiency and improve delivery.   

We are also improving the management of capital projects and 
introducing new reporting systems to tighten up oversight.

Capital project audit

 An audit of all major schemes and projects has been commissioned 
to assess governance and financial controls. 

Capital project management

 Directors must involve finance at the inception of significant capital 
projects to consider business cases (including affordability, best value, 
funding and ongoing revenue costs and savings).

 For all large capital spend schemes, detailed reporting arrangements 
will be in place for all relevant service management teams, strategic 
leadership groups, the political administration and Cabinet.

Finance board

 Finance Board will be chaired by the Strategic Director of Finance 
and Governance. In addition to revenue budgets, S106, commercial 
income and audit issues, its remit will extend to large capital schemes. 
Capital expenditure governance, monitoring, controls, and slippage 
will be a standard item. 

Finance Board will:

• consider the funding and feasibility of new large schemes  

• review business cases, approvals, and variations, signing off draft 
reports to Cabinet

• oversee the procurement and delivery of capital works

• monitor actual spend and forecast against budgets.

2.

our ACtion plAn

Page 90



8

Commercial management
All officers need to demonstrate a high level of commercial acumen to 
ensure the Council is getting the best deal and working creatively to 
exploit funding sources. This means ensuring that commissioning and 
procurement practice obtains best value whether through strategy and 
market management, timely procurement and contract management. 
Robust supplier and contract management is critically important when 
ensuring value from procurement activity and that goods and services 
are delivered as promised. All budget holders must verify and challenge 
all expenditure before invoices are paid and ensure payments are in line 
with contracts.

We are putting an early warning system in place to guard against 
potential breaches of contract limits, repeated underspending/ carry 
forwards and weak contract management. 

Financial monitoring on contract spending

 Directors, finance managers and contract managers must monitor 
more robustly contract expenditure, monthly forecasts, penalty, and 
failure payment options, spend against annual control limits and 
lifetime contract limits. Breaching contract limits will be treated as 
seriously as any other unauthorised expenditure. 

Commercial management

 We are redesigning our approach to commercial management 
to ensure corporate oversight and greater alignment of our 
commissioning and commercial activities to our strategic priorities. 

 We will implement new assurance frameworks, business processes 
and governance to ensure that contract conditions are observed, with 
contractors held to account where they are not.

 We will undertake a comprehensive programme of contract review, 
challenge, and negotiations to realise savings across all third party spend.

income generation

 We are continuing to develop our approaches to Business Intelligence 
and Ethical Debt Collection to secure additional revenue for the Council.

 We are exploring new opportunities for increasing our income and 
sharing costs with collaborative agencies and businesses. 

 We are also developing a percentage pay back scheme where teams 
that are successful income generators can retain a percentage of the 
profit back into their business.

3. 

our ACtion plAn

Page 91



9

Investment
Our Industrial Strategy promises economic growth for everyone and 
we are using our unique position as a local authority to promote 
growth, opportunities, and prosperity in our borough. By encouraging 
the growth of new and established businesses and private and social 
housing we will grow our business rates and council tax base providing 
additional income to invest in our services. We will ensure planning 
obligations and charges to mitigate the impact of developments 
on the community and planning charges are invested in important 
infrastructure to further promote growth.

We are developing an Investment Strategy which links with our 
Industrial Strategy and Finance Strategies. The investment strategy 
will bring together economic development, commercial opportunities, 
regeneration, and financial management so we better manage the 
interdependencies and grow a much larger income pool over time. We 
will particularly consider how investing our own funds and utilising our 
own asset base to promote regeneration in our borough can provide a 
source of sustainable income to the Council.

It’s vital that we develop a longer-term Investment Strategy in response 
to complex demands on the budget. Our Investment Strategy will 
budget for new anticipated, unforeseen pressures, peaks in demand 
and one-off costs as well as plan savings and efficiencies over time. It’s a 
radical new approach to medium term financial planning and we need 
to construct a robust model in the coming months. 

Bidding process

 Internal bids for one-off funding will be peer challenged and need to 
be more competitively argued and challenged so that we move away 
from using our reserves. The ’one-off nature’ and funding solution/
outcome will be more rigorously assessed during the funding term 
and at the end of life. 

invest-to-save funding

 We are rewriting our Invest to Save criteria so that the predicted 
impact of any funding on the service and the organisation is assessed 
more rigorously. Again, the business case needs to be strengthened 
along with the monitoring of the benefit and financial gain. There 
will be a quarterly review of investment spend, progress made, return 
on investment with accountable officers with the Strategic Director of 
Finance and Governance and the Chief Executive

4. 

Page 92



10

The financial regulations - 
a summary
Financial Regulations apply to every Member and officer of the Council 
and to anyone acting on its behalf. Failure to comply may constitute 
misconduct and lead to formal disciplinary action. The financial 
regulations are being reviewed to bring them in line with both the 
principles of the RFE approach and the new finance system. 

under the Council’s financial regulations, which are set out in 
the constitution, Directors are responsible for: 

 ensuring that all staff in their departments are aware of the existence 
and content of the financial regulations and other internal regulatory 
documents, and that they comply with them;

 ensuring that Members are advised, in line with the Scheme of 
Delegation, of the financial implications agreed by the Chief Finance 
Officer (S151 officer) for all proposals; 

 managing service delivery within the agreed revenue and capital 
budgets and other relevant strategies and plans; 

 developing performance, corporate and service targets and 
contributing to the corporate vision and objectives; 

 contributing to the corporate development of budget forecasts and 
the preparation of detailed estimates which conform with the agreed 
allocated totals; 

 ensuring that budget estimates reflecting approved corporate 
guidelines for their preparation, and agreed service plans are 
submitted to Members, in line with the Scheme of Delegation; 

 ensuring that financial management arrangements and practices are 
agreed with the Chief Finance Officer (S151 officer) and are legally 
compliant and consistent with best practice and Council policy; 

 consulting with the Chief Finance Officer (S151 officer) and seeking 
approval on any matter liable to affect the Local Authority’s finances 
materially, before any commitments are incurred. 

5. 

There is more detail in the regulations under the following headings:

• Strategic Financial 
Management and Reporting

• Treasury Management

• Investments and Borrowing 

• Trust Funds and Funds held for 
Third Parties 

• Capital Programme 

• Financial Management and 
Standards 

• Accounting Policy and 
Guidance 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring

• Capital Monitoring

Page 93



11

All council employees’  
financial responsibilities
All Council employees must ensure that residents’ 
money is spent in the most effective way is 
everybody’s responsibility, therefore all Council 
employees should do all they can to ensure:

 value for money is achieved and resources are not 
wasted;

 resources are used for their intended purpose and 
the maximum impact/benefit is sought; and

 that the financial regulations are adhered to. 

All employees who use Council resources should 
do so with the appropriate skill, care and diligence, 
ensuring the monitoring of Council expenditure to 
ensure value for tax payers’ money.

All employees should report any conflicts of interest 
in the use of Council resources, and be aware of their 
obligations around avoiding the misuse of council 
resources or fraud.

All employees should report any misuse or wasting 
of public money when they become aware; either 
to their line manager, or if they feel unable to do so, 
through the established whistleblowing policy.

Page 94



12

Executive, cabinet member and 
member responsibilities in relation  
to financial management
Financial Regulations apply to every Member and 
officer of the Council and to anyone acting on its 
behalf. Failure to comply may constitute misconduct 
and lead to formal disciplinary action. 

The Executive (Leader and Cabinet) has to:

 take in-year decisions on resources and priorities 
to deliver and implement the budget and policies 
decided by Full Council. 

 refer items to Full Council as a whole to decide, 
when it wishes to decide on any matter which is 
outside the budget or policy framework. (The Full 
Council is responsible for setting the budget and 
policy framework within which the Council must 
operate under an Executive form of governance). 

 receive budgetary control reports for services 
and activities within his/her portfolio, and to take 
action necessary to control the budget of those 
services within the Council’s approved Budget and 
Policy Framework.

Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham

FINANCE, COMMERCIAL REVENUE AND 
CONTRACTS POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY 

COMMITTEE

14 NOVEMBER 2018

HR, PAYROLL AND FINANCE SERVICE TRANSITION PROGRAMME

Report of the Director of Corporate Services – Mark Grimley

Open Report

Council Priority: 5 – Being ruthlessly financially efficient

Purpose of report: For the Committee to review progress and provide feedback

Key Decision: No

Wards Affected: None

Accountable Director: Mark Grimley, Director of Corporate Services

Report Author:
Caroline Woolf, Programme Director

Contact Details:
Caroline.woolf@lbhf.gov.uk 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. In September 2017, the Cabinet agreed to move to HR, Payroll and Finance 
services currently provided by BT to a public to public partnership led by 
Hampshire County Council (HCC) using the SAP platform.

1.2 This is a tried and tested system used by c.85,000 public sector users and 
LBHF will adopt it and its associated processes. This means LBHF will need to 
change some of the ways it works in order to accommodate the new system.

1.3 LBHF have worked closely with HCC, Deloitte (their onboarding partner) and 
BT to ensure all stakeholders are committed to a successful outcome.

1.4 Westminster City Council and Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea are 
also moving to the Hampshire solution and whilst our programmes are 
separate, there is some co-operation on shared matters such as data.  Current 
go live dates align which is advantageous from the point of view of exiting BT, 
downloading data and using shared HCC resources.  However, should the 
timetable change, LBHF is fully prepared for a solo go live process.

Page 98

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Caroline.woolf@lbhf.gov.uk


1.5 This report summarises the progress made and the key activities scheduled     
between now and go live of the new system.  

1.6 The new IBC system build was completed in May and is well along the cycle 
of testing to ensure it meets LBHF’s requirements.

1.7 Business deployment and change management activities have ramped up 
and following User Acceptance Testing there will be a number of opportunities 
to try out the IBC system during drop-in sessions in October and November.

1.8 We gave formal notice to BT on 30 August 2018 to terminate the shared 
services contract (from the master contract of Westminster City Council). This 
puts us on a go live trajectory of 1st December 2018 with a release to the 
organisation on Monday 3rd December. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the Committee review progress, noting the go-live date of 1st December 
2018, and provide feedback.

3. SUMMARY OF PROGRESS 

3.1 The design and build of the system was completed in May 2018. A testing 
strategy and approach was written and approved at board and testing of the 
system included the following stages:
 Unit testing: validates that individual functions are configured and/or 

developed to appropriately translate technical and functional requirements 
(successfully completed)

 System Integration Testing (SIT): there are 2 cycles of SIT: validates a set 
of business processes to ensure that the system functions as expected 
when the elements are integrated together i.e. end to end processes, 
interfaces, middleware, reports (successfully completed)

 Comparison payroll runs (CR): there are 6 comparison payrolls (4 
intensive monthly payroll cycles during test phase and two Comparison 
payroll cycles during cutover): recreating the payroll run and comparing 
the Agresso and SAP payrolls to ensure that SAP is running correctly

 User Acceptance Testing (UAT): end-to-end process testing to verify that 
the implemented solution satisfies business requirements (successfully 
completed).

3.2 We have completed SIT and UAT and satisfied the entry/exit criteria outlined 
in the Appendix.

3.3 Finance Data loads were completed with a 0.5% error rate (note manual loads 
at LBHF have had a greater success rate than bi-borough).  

3.4. The payroll loads and full organisational management (OM) structures have 
loaded for sovereign borough and also integrated OM for cross borough 
services.  This structure has been built from scratch and is a key part of 
ensuring that workflows and approvals within the system work correctly.  

Page 99



3.5 We have completed successfully the key tasks of loading the sovereign 
organisation structure data and integrated data for services delivered with 
RBKC, the finance data and the full data set for payroll CR3 and UAT.

3.6 User feedback has been positive confirming the ease of use, fit for purpose 
and a great improvement on Agresso.

3.7 We have a plan for data remediation and loading prior to comparison payroll 
run 4 (CR4) which will be followed by two more comparison runs to ensure the 
data for pay is as accurate as possible. 

3.8 A cutover strategy and plan is in place for transitioning from the LBHF’s 
legacy system and processes to HCC’s shared services operation (and 
related systems and processes.  Cutover is the structured approach for 
managing the transition of people, processes and technology from the existing 
ways of working to new ways of working and adoption of the IBC services.  

3.9 Cutover includes applying the new code, configuration and functionality to IBC 
systems; migrating all data from legacy systems ensuring it is cleansed and 
validated to ensure its integrity; ensuring services are fully prepared for 
transition to the IBC; and operational readiness meaning that the IBC are 
ready to deliver services from go-live day.

4. ISSUES

4.1 The latest payroll run is on ‘Dress Rehearsal 1’ / Comparison Run 4 – ther are 
2 more runs before cutover planned. 

4.2 The latest comparison run (during cutover rehjearsal) now has the initial 
accuracy of net pay at 96%.  The breakdown (as at 30 October) is shown 
below: 

Item Number of 
Records

Notes

Payroll Results 1,963
Pay records within +/- £1 1,375 (70.0%)

Records with reconcilable differences
Basic Pay 64 Pay award not applied in time
Recruring & Additional 
Payments

2 Professional fees

Absence and attence related 130 Casual holiday pay changes 
related to 90% of these

Statutory deductions 11 Rounding / calculation changes
Pensions 234 Auto-enrollment change & 

banding changes
Loans & expenses 56 Mileagage tax calculation 

harmonisation

Total with reconciled 
differences

1,872 (95.3%)

Errors resolved 19

Page 100



Total records NET pay 
match 

1,891 (96.3%)

Outstanding records 72 Remediation underway.

5 BUSINESS DEPLOYMENT AND CHANGE MANAGEMENT

5.1 Alongside the development and testing of the system, a strong focus has 
been placed on the change which will be required in the organisation to 
conform to the new ways of working required by the system.

5.2 The activities in the business deployment workstream are key to ensuring that 
the organisation is engaged with the change, familiar with and ready for the 
implementation of the system and processes in order to increase take up and 
acceptance.

5.3 As well as sponsorship from SLT and senior management the programme’s 
change team has ‘recruited’ staff across the organisation to form a change 
network.  Managers have been recruited as IBC advocates whilst staff are 
recruited as super users. These people play a key role in ensuring that 
services become familiar with the new system, the processes and procedures 
we will be using. The change network is used to engage staff in the change, 
disseminate knowledge about the system and will be used to support users at 
go live.

5.4 The BD team produced a communications and engagement strategy, a 
change management plan, a stakeholder assessment, a detailed change 
impact assessment, a knowledge share needs assessment and a 
communications plan.  These identify all the groups of users, covering the 
entire organisation, who need to learn to use the system and understand the 
changes they will see from the previous system.

5.5 A poster campaign, leaflets, intranet pages, a microsite and a regular 
newsletter have been developed to raise awareness and inform staff and 
managers of what is coming with useful information on how to undertake 
common processes. 

5.6 The team started by introducing Directors and Management teams to the 
technology and subsequently ran change impact workshops for each topic 
(e.g. HR, Recruitment, Payroll, Procure to Pay (shopping) and Finance. A total 
of 175 knowledgeable staff from across the directorates participated in the 
workshops and identified what needed to be done differently in each area, 
leading to a number of ‘business readiness’ actions to be carried out in 
readiness for go-live

5.7 A number of all-staff roadshows, hosted by the programme sponsor, have 
taken place with good attendance and good feedback.  Roadshows have 
taken place across the LBHF estate to ensure that the system messages are 
spread through every area of the organisation.

Page 101



5.8 Where necessary, new policies and procedures are being written to support 
the new ways of working.

5.9 The change network has been concentrating recently on change network 
outreach work to ensure engagement is maximised.  This involves visiting all 
LBHF buildings, face to face contact and team building.

5.10 The Adios Agresso webpages are running and updated regularly.  All comms 
channels are being used in order to disseminate key information to the 
organisation for instance around system freeze dates and interim work arounds 
until the new system goes live.

5.11 Knowledge share is underway whereby specific processes are introduced to 
relevant categories of staff and short ‘how to’ videos are posted on the intranet. 
Videos are available on processes that are relevant for all staff, whilst there will 
be face to face workshops for targeted groups of staff. 

5.12 A ‘Pulse’ survey has been undertaken to assess the progress of the 
engagement initiatives and change readiness in the organisation.  
Recommendations from this survey have been implemented particularly in 
terms of preferred channels of communication and engagement with the 
change network.  A further survey will be undertaken in October to identify any 
improvement and modify the engagement approach where necessary.

5.13 Many staff are awaiting the release of the UAT system so they can get some 
‘hands on’ experience of the new technology.  This will be made available as 
soon as possible after UAT is complete.  A complete diary of drop-in sessions 
across September and October is being drawn up which give users the 
opportunity to get hands on experience with guidance from specialists or simply 
to come in and look at the system in a less structured way.  

6. BT EXIT

6.1 BT agreed to parallel consultation with employees at risk of redundancy and 
this started on 4 September.

6.2 In order for BT to agree to enter into staff consultation prior to 1 December, 
there was a requirement for the three London Boroughs (LBHF, WCC, RBKC) 
to agree an enhancement to staff packages.  An offer was made to BT which 
amounted to 8 week’s salary enhancement for affected staff.  BT accepted the 
offer which will ultimately be more cost effective for the boroughs than running 
the process after exit.

7. AUDIT AND ASSURANCE

7.1 The programme has been in continuous dialogue with Audit and the Director 
of Audit sits on the Sponsorship board. In addition, two deep dive audits have 
been undertaken by Mazars to ensure that programme governance is robust.

Page 102



Mazars reported favourably that mitigations from their original report had been 
successful and that the governance had improved.

7.2 Audit is currently undertaking a detailed piece of work regarding the 
robustness of the process around data cleansing, loading and validation to 
offer further assurance to stakeholders. This piece of work is ongoing.

8. IBC

8.1 The IBC has been ensuring business readiness for the past few months, 
particularly as the original go live date has moved.  They have updated all 
online help and support materials, recruited and trained new staff to the IBC 
who were ready for the previous go live date and have been co-ordinating and 
running testing along with the boroughs.

8.2 A robust support programme post go live is being developed to ensure that 
issues are logged and remediated quickly and that we have good 
communications back into the organisation.  A stabilisation plan to support this 
is being drawn up.

8.3 IBC has provided good support with the documenting of policies and 
procedures impacted by the new ways of working.

9. BUDGET

9.1 The original allocated budget for the programme is £7,911,000 including 
contingency. As of 31 October 2018, the forecast spend across the 
programme was under by around £620k.

9.2 The forecast budget includes LBHF programme costs and programme staff 
until programme close down and all HCC/Deloitte costs until go live.

9.3 The monthly cost of staff breaks down approximately as:
 LBHF programme staff c. £200,000
 HCC/Deloitte £410,600 (this includes an £139,600 cost for extra IBC staff 

recruited to start for the go live of 1 October)
This is a total monthly run rate of £610,600.

10. KEY RISKS AND MITIGATIONS

10.1 Payroll: there is a possibility that even with data remediation we do not 
achieve a satisfactory match on CR4.  There are two further payroll 
simulations scheduled during cutover in order to ensure that payroll works 
effectively. If there are any areas of known issues at go-live, communications 
will be issued prior to the first payroll being run from the IBC to inform those 
staff affected of what the likely outcome will be and how it will be addressed.

10.2 There is a possibility of desegregation of go lives depending on the success of 
bi-borough testing and their own risk appetite.  To mitigate this risk, we have 
developed an impact analysis to manage a sovereign go live. In addition, we 

Page 103



have bought in an extra resource for payroll (a high-risk area) to focus on 
LBHF but also support the cross-borough team (managed by RBKC).

10.3 There is always a risk of technical problems at go live.  To support the go-live, 
we will put in place a number of mitigations:  the change network will be 
mobilised to floor walk and support users, reporting issues to the change 
team.  Issue resolution will be prioritised by impact and triaged accordingly.  
We will be able to pick up thematic issues versus individual issues quickly and 
ensure we are communicating back to users regarding the remediation and 
timescales.  Go-live calls with partners will be set up several times daily to 
ensure all issues are being addressed and resolved. A stabilisation board will 
be convened to review progress and put in place any extra measures required 
to support go-live.

10.4 A December go live means the first payroll run is 10 days before Christmas 
therefore any errors in payroll may be difficult to remediate prior to the 
holiday. However, payroll is run on 5th December and early sight of payslips 
will help mitigate a more compressed timetable for any reparative actions. 
Where there may be risk to groups of staff who need to input additional hours 
etc, a workaround may be implemented for the first payroll run to ensure 
these are captured and included in pay.

10.5 Project team and business resources are likely to be taking leave in 
December at critical times post go live impacting post go live support. A full 
resourcing plan will be required to avoid loss of key resources at the critical 
post-live period.

10.6 With business users likely to be taking holiday, uptake of the system might be 
slow and therefore system issues might not be identified until post-Christmas 
period, extending the required system support.  Key staff will therefore be 
retained into January to ensure any issues which may not have been captured 
prior to Christmas can be dealt with early in the new year

Page 104



Appendix 1 – Entry and Exit Criteria

The exit (and entry) criteria for various programme activities are shown in this 
appendix.

Whilst every effort is made to ensure that the criteria are met, there are occasions 
where a decision is made on a case by case basis to move onto the next phase (e.g. 
CR1).  Where this has been the case, a board decision has been made and 
recorded.

11.1 SIT 
Entry criteria

 System Integration Test preparation complete and signed off by Test Manager
 SIT test cases validated and signed off
 SIT environment (s) are available and are linked together
 Unit Testing closure report agreed
 Smoke Testing has completed in the environment
 Test Data specific to the SI Tests is available within the environment
 Users and roles have been set up within the environment
 Testers have access to the test environment

Exit criteria
 Test cases executed 100%
 Critical business defects – Max 0 (per functional area)
 High defects – Max 5 (per functional area)
 Medium defects – Max 10 (per functional area)
 Low defects – Max 20 (per functional area)

11.2 UAT
Entry criteria

 UAT prep completed and signed off by Test manager
 UAT user journeys validated and signed off
 UAT environment available and linked together
 SIT closure report agreed
 Smoke testing has completed in the environment
 Test data available within the environment
 Users and roles have been set up within the environment
 Testers have access to the test environment

Exit criteria
 Test cases executed 100%
 Critical business defects – Max 0 (per functional area)
 High defects – Max 5 (per functional area)
 Medium defects – Max 10 (per functional area)
 Low defects – Max 20 (per functional area)
 Project board signed off the UAT closure report

Page 105



11.3 Cutover 
Entry into cutover

 Final readiness assessment shows all areas rated green (see separate 
document for assessment criteria)

 Any areas rated amber/red, project board can approve starting cutover if 
mitigating actions are agreed

Exit cutover, system release to users
 Cutover timetable 100% delivered
 Confidence checks complete
 No critical issues open
 Other open issues have mitigations in place agreed by Project Board
 100% of data loaded and signed off

11.4 SIT defect categorisation:
The defects referred to for SIT are classified as follows:

Go Live Impact 

 Critical – Cannot Go-Live without fix

 High – Can Go-Live with fix within 10 days 

 Medium – Can Go-Live with work around

 Low - Can Go-Live no impact 

  
11.5 Comparison Payroll exit criteria

The following exit criteria for each comparison payroll test phase will be applied 
at the completion of the comparison run execution:

CR1: June 2018

 Recorded defects

Type of defect Severity Number of 
defects/issues

Configuration High
Medium

Low

Nil
<=5

<=10
Data – 

missing/mapping
High

Medium
Low

Nil
<=5

<=10
Finance postings High

Medium
Low

Nil
<=5

<=10

 Net pay and employer costs

Page 106



Target match: 90 % (This won’t mean to say 10% will NOT be accounted 
for and ALL 100% of the mismatches must be explained)

 Finance posting reconciliations against sample GL account 
balances

90% posted to correct GL accounts/100% posted by value
 
Defects can be closed with explainable differences. A tolerance level e.g. 
within £1+ in favour of the employee for net pay/£1- against the employer 
per employee is given low priority whilst continuing to investigate root 
cause (e.g. rounding etc...). Any such differences to be agreed with 
relevant stakeholders before closing.

A test report completed and provided to the Strategic Design Authority and 
IBC Project Board for sign-off.

CR2: July 2018

 Recorded Defects

Type of defect Severity Number of 
defects/issues

Configuration High
Medium
Low

Nil
<=2
<=3

Data – 
missing/mapping

High
Medium
Low

Nil
<=1
<=3

Finance postings High
Medium
Low

Nil
<=1
<=3

 Net pay and employer costs

Target match: 95% (This won’t mean to say 5% will NOT be accounted 
for and ALL 100% of the mismatches must be explained) 

 Finance posting reconciliations against sample GL account 
balances

95% posted to correct GL accounts/100% posted by value
Defects can be closed with explainable differences. Any such differences 
to be agreed with relevant stakeholders before closing.

CR3: August 2018

All CR3 defects affecting payroll results and payroll postings closed. Defects can 
be closed with explainable differences. Any such differences to be agreed with 
relevant stakeholders before closing.

Page 107



 Recorded Defects

Type of defect Severity Number of 
defects/issues

Configuration High
Medium

Low

Nil
Nil
Nil 

Data – 
missing/mapping

High
Medium

Low

Nil
<=2
<=3

Finance postings High
Medium

Low

Nil
Nil
Nil

 Net pay and employer costs

Target match: 100%

 Finance posting reconciliations against sample GL account 
balances

100% posted to correct GL accounts/100% posted by value
Defects can be closed with explainable differences. Any such differences 
to be agreed with relevant stakeholders before closing.

Page 108



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham

FINANCE, COMMERCIAL REVENUE AND 
CONTRACTS POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY 

COMMITTEE

16 NOVEMBER 2018

TEMPORARY STAFFING AND ESTABLISHMENT REPORT

Report of the Director of Corporate Services

Open Report

Classification - For Policy and Accountability Review and Comment

Key Decision: No

Consultation
Individual directorates are consulted on action plans arising from some of the 
areas for improvement raised within this report. 

Wards Affected: none

Accountable Director: Mark Grimley, Director of Corporate Services

Report Author: 
Carol Yorrick, Head of Human 
Resources

Contact Details:
Tel: 07770 343 238
E-mail: carol.yorrick@lbhf.gov.uk

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. This paper sets out the current temporary resourcing arrangements across 
the council.

1.2. The council operates a managed vendor contract with Pertemps for the 
supply of temporary and agency staffing.  These arrangements are necessary 
for our contingent workforce when vacancies arise, project work and to cover 
peaks in demand for services. 

1.3. The predecessor Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC) had regularly 
reviewed the operation of the agency contract and the use of agency staffing 
against the establishment.

1.4. The paper also sets out directorate action plans to use agency staffing 
appropriately, and to better plan for their workforce needs over the coming 
years as part of the council’s Ruthlessly Financially Efficient policy. 

Page 109

Agenda Item 7



2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. The Policy and Accountability Committee are asked to note and comment on 
the report. 

3. AGENCY AND ESTABLISHMENT OVERVIEW

3.1. At September 2018, the council directly employed 1,959 individuals with the 
full-time equivalency (FTE) of 1,755. In addition, a further 395 agency workers 
were engaged to cover a number of roles across the organisation. This is 18 
per cent of the total staffing resource of the council. 

3.2. The council currently monitors staffing resources through the monthly 
Corporate Revenue Monitoring report against budgeted allocations for 
staffing.  This has been the most accurate monitor and control for staffing, 
including temporary/agency staffing as the existing HR system has poor 
quality data and information, the establishment reports are limited so far as 
they can confirm the actual staffing, but not the true establishment. 

3.3. The Hampshire Integrated Business Centre, implementing in December 2018, 
will be able to report more accurate establishment data of actuals, budgeted 
roles and vacancies.  As part of the implementation, a full re-build of the 
council’s establishment has been undertaken and reconciled to the budget 
book.  Managers will also be responsible directly for the maintenance of their 
establishment, creating a more up-to-date and accurate picture at any time for 
the resourcing of the council. 

3.4. Over the past three financial years, the use of agency staff has increased 
from an annual spend in 2016/17 of £16.5 million to an estimated outturn in 
2018/19 of £19 million. 

3.5. The reasons for agency staffing are monitored and are attributed to: 

 Short-term capacity requirement (vacancies)
 Sickness absence cover
 Project management skills (Agresso, King St Regeneration, ICT)
 Skills-shortages in market (Social care, housing and technical)

3.6. Our existing recruitment platform has made the process of hiring new staff 
slow and cumbersome, often meaning that recruiting agency staff is preferred 
over seeking approval and the manual process of recruiting. 

3.7. As with the new establishment controls (paragraph 3.2) the council is 
implementing SAP SuccessFactors as the new recruiting and on-boarding 
platform.  This reduces, significantly, the manual processes of requisitioning, 
recruiting and onboarding new starters. This will remove many of the excuses 

Page 110



for failing to go recruitment (either internally or externally) when the need 
arises.

4.0 AGENCY USAGE 2018/19

4.1 The council currently engages 395 agency staff at a run rate of around £1.5 
million per month.  This is around 18 per cent of our total workforce spend. 
This has been a 15 per cent increase on the use of agency levels since 
2016/17 (or around an additional 40 assignments per month).  An 
extrapolation of this would indicate a figure of £19 million total spend in a full 
year 2018/19.  The agency action plan is projecting that the mitigating actions 
will reduce this outturn figure to below the 2017/18 figure of £17.5 million, 
further reducing to below £10 million in 2019/20.

4.2 The current main areas of spend are shown in Table 4.1 (below).

Job 
Categories April May Jun Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Total
Admin   £ 79,620 £78,277 £123,309 £ 87,118 £104,631 £ 87,745 £560,700
Environment   £111,531 £106,666 £106,351 £ 85,797 £ 110,431 £ 180,808 £701,584
Finance   £135,069 £ 142,583 £161,541 £ 140,887 £ 154,711 £ 175,246 £910,037
Housing    £ 282,070 £ 280,681 £354,576 £ 351,932 £ 449,179 £337,148 £ 2,055,586
HR    £120,606 £ 91,730 £119,757 £ 81,892 £ 80,488 £ 88,396 £ 582,869
IT  £111,885 £ 151,126 £161,056 £ 141,092 £ 171,349 £104,344 £840,852
Social Care 
Qualified   £404,380 £ 423,251 £502,979 £ 461,621 £515,345 £ 428,024 £2,735,600
Social Care 
Unqualified    £127,389 £ 137,589 £162,058 £ 121,066 £ 134,018 £ 99,721 £781,841

Total £ 1,372,550 £ 1,411,903 £ 1,691,627 £1,471,405 £1,720,152 £ 1,501,431 £ 9,169,068

4.3 The spend by directorate is shown in Table 4.2 (below).

Directorate Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Total
Adult Social 
Care & NHS

£253,670 £255,060 £279,622 £238,212 £252,871 £217,043 £1,496,478

Children's 
Services

£315,087 £308,956 £437,583 £354,296 £410,953 £313,230 £2,140,105

Finance & 
Corporate 
Services

£385,956 £381,177 £417,740 £356,574 £409,714 £344,626 £2,295,787

Resident 
Services

£150,455 £152,660 £169,555 £131,208 £150,181 £173,983 £928,042

Growth & 
Place 

£340,167 £357,318 £474,825 £427,112 £536,530 £412,734 £2,548,686

PSR £0 £23,440 £50,863 £39,163 £47,375 £39,814 £200,655

Total £1,445,335 £1,478,611 £1,830,188 £1,546,565 £1,807,624 £1,501,431 £9,609,754

Page 111



4.4 Since the disaggregation of shared services with Westminster and Kensington 
& Chelsea, we have been working to a plan to fill vacancies predominantly 
within social care and special educational needs.  There is also a demand for 
services within housing to support the council’s Safety Plus policy (health and 
safety works for the council’s tenants and residential estate) and management 
of the Mitie contract that have increased requirements in these areas. 

4.5 Additionally, within human resources, the impact of the restructure in July 
2018 (where the department was carrying 60 per cent vacancies) is now 
showing a permanent reduction in agency usage by 26 per cent (from£120k 
per month to £80k per month) with further roles appointed to and awaiting new 
starters before Christmas.  The remaining agency staffing in this area is to 
cover the transition between BT Agresso and Hampshire, and specific project 
for TUPE and workforce changes. 

4.5 The council has in place an action plan to reduce agency spend before the 
end of the financial year to under 10 per cent of the total workforce spend.  
This includes: 

 Transferring an agency worker who has acquired employment rights 
onto the council’s employment (or recruiting to the role permanently 
where they have declined to be transferred).

 A review of all agency posts filled for over six months, with each one 
setting an end date or a proposed recruitment timetable. 

 A review of all agency posts filled at week 12.
 Specific recruitment campaigns for social care and housing roles.

4.6 The action plans, introduced in August 2018, will have an impact by January 
2018.

4.7 Officers will also be looking over the lifetime of the medium-term financial 
strategy to identify any areas where it would not be advantageous to recruit 
to permanent or fixed-term roles where workforce reductions are anticipated.  
This assists the council in avoiding potential redundancies where 
restructures and reductions are required. 

 

Page 112



WORK PROGRAMME 2018 - 19

Topic Officer Date
‘Ruthlessly Financially Efficient’ report Hitesh Jolapara Nov 2018
Section 106 Update Report Jo Rowlands Nov 2018
Report on the Council’s strategy on Asset 
Back Securities

Hitesh Jolapara Withdrawn

Staff and agency costs including a breakdown 
of front line vs non-front-line staff.

Mark Grimley Nov 2018

Staffing budget Mark Grimley Nov 2018

Transition to Hampshire IBC Mark Grimley Nov 2018

Contract Management – Performance, 
governance, and monitoring. Using a live 
contract as a case study.

Lisa Redfern

Lesson learnt on from savings delivered and 
the consequences

Hitesh Jolapara

Work styles and patterns Mark Grimley

Using our estate more economically Jo Rowlands

External funding including grant funding, bid 
writing and other Income sources

Jo Rowlands

Financing our economy – High street renewal, 
understanding inward investment, business 
rates.

Jo Rowlands

Commercial Income and commercial 
directorate

Lisa Redfern

Commercialisation – including joint ventures, 
trading companies etc.

Lisa Redfern

IT Desktop Strategy Veronica Barella

IT – including major contracts and how a 
modern council can use IT to engage / 
interface with residents. IT would be a good 
area to encourage residents with expert 
knowledge to inform our strategy.

Veronica Barella

Longer term financial planning (10+ years) 
and investment strategies.

Hitesh Jolapara

Lessons learned on major issues from other 
Council’s. 
Developing an operating model for the 
organisation.

Page 113

Agenda Item 8


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Section 106 Agreements - Update
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 1 - Supplement 1
	Appendix 1 - Supplement 2
	Appendix 1- Supplement 3
	Appendix 2  -  Typical s106 obligations

	5 Ruthlessly Financially Efficient
	Appendix 1 - Ruthlessly Financially Efficient document

	6 HR, Payroll and Finance Service Transition Programme
	7 Temporary Staffing and Establishment Report
	8 Committee Work Programme

